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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company’, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report shall remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.
com for at least seven days from the date of its publication and will be available on the Company’s website at
www.locohkholdings.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would
like to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

In 2020, the sudden COVID-19 pandemic hit the global economy
severely. The lock-down measures adopted by various countries to
prevent and control the pandemic made the business environment
more difficult. Therefore, the year was also extremely challenging
for the Group. The Group’s precious metal and money lending
businesses were inevitably greatly affected, and its revenue was
significantly reduced. During a considerable period of this year, the
teaching of schools and training institutions in the PRC Mainland was
suspended, therefore, the Group’s education management service
business in the PRC Mainland was also greatly affected.

Nevertheless, the Group still sought other market opportunities, with
a view to optimizing business opportunities and improving financial
performance. In 2020, the Group continued to abide by the strategy
of acting prudently and continuously strengthening risk control to
ensure the stable operation of its various businesses.

Given that the PRC Mainland and the global society and economy
are still facing severe challenges, the precious metal and money
lending businesses still require cautious assessment and robust
risk control when the global pandemic is not yet under control. In
the PRC Mainland, with the effective prevention and control of the
pandemic, the education management service business will gradually
recover, but it still faces severe challenges. We will strive to seek
further opportunities to consolidate our education management
service business and market position, carefully manage precious
metal and money lending businesses, and continue to strengthen
risk control.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRS

All in all, the Group will strive to seek development in the balance of #22 > REBBHEIR A EHEE I EIE T E T
risk control in its existing business model. BHERER-

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to HKABRXREFTSHELESHRET - TAK
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers and S EBHENR T IFRLIROFH - L
business partners for their continuous support and to our staff KHZETIWNHE -FEHEEEAEELEE
members for their diligence, dedication and contribution to the HBAIEEL > RHERAIRE

growth of the Group.

Wang Wendong EXR
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEFRITHAEZ
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021 5B E_—F=-B_”_+HH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

The Group is principally engaged in trading of precious metal
in Hong Kong accompanied with trading of commodity forward
contracts for hedging purpose. Besides, the Group is also
engaged in provision of education management services, which are
conducted in mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC
Mainland”), and provision of money lending services, which are
conducted in Hong Kong, during the year.

The Group purchases silver raw material when we have sufficient
capital and source of silver raw material. For other precious metals,
whenever we can secure the sale, we proceed with the purchase of
other precious metals. In order to ensure a sufficient supply of silver
products to our customers, we maintain a target inventory level, by
taking into account silver supplies and our processing capacity. A
sales contract is originated by an inquiry from and/or a negotiation
with our customers. The purchase or sales price is expressed as
a discount to or a premium over the prevailing market price at a
date to be agreed. Such discount or premium is negotiated on a
case by case basis between us and our suppliers or customers,
after taking into account various factors such as prevailing market
conditions, order sizes and business relationships with our suppliers
or customers.

We operate the silver processing facilities with a view to enhancing
the marketability as well as facilitating the trading of our silver
products. Our processing involves melting silver raw materials
and moulding them into the shapes and forms required by our
customers.

The Group adopts hedging strategies to avoid adverse impact on
our income arising from price fluctuation of precious metals. Such
strategies mainly include entering into forward contracts with our
commodity dealers to fix the forward price contemporaneously
upon our fixing the purchase or sales price with our suppliers or
customers, in order to mitigate the impact from price fluctuation.

The sales and purchase price of our silver and gold products and
the hedging arrangements are determined with reference to a
benchmark price quoted on the website of London Bullion Market
Association and live prices published and distributed by various data
vendors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESRAEADH

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s principal
activities were broadly divided into the provision of education
management services in the Mainland of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC Mainland”), trading of precious metal and provision
of money lending services in Hong Kong.

Provision of education management services

For the year ended 31 December 2020, our indirect subsidiary, "
JIAEEHEHEFEEARMRASE (Sichuan Loco Yahui Education
Management Limited*) (“Loco Yahui”), was principally engaged in
the provision of education management and consulting services
to different schools in the PRC Mainland. Due to the outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic in January 2020, the teaching of schools
and training institutions was suspended, and the operation of
this business segment was greatly affected. By mid-2020, with
the effective prevention and control of the pandemic in the PRC
Mainland, relevant schools and training institutions have gradually
resumed operations, and the education industry has also gradually
recovered. Due to the shock and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
during a considerable period of this year, this business segment only
contributed approximately HK$6.2 million in revenue to the Group
(2019: approximately HK$25.2 million).

Sales of precious metal

For the year ended 31 December 2020, under the influence of the
global outbreak and rapid spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, global
economic conditions continued to be turbulent and full of challenges,
and the business environment for this business segment was even
more difficult. During the year, the price trend of precious metal
(including gold and silver) continued to fluctuate sharply, mainly
due to the negative outlook from the abovementioned economic
uncertainties. Competition in the procurement trading of silver
scrap (non-standard) products remained fierce with the shortage
in supply accompanied with the obviously weakening demand for
physical silver. The stringent condition of the COVID-19 pandemic
in Hong Kong also affected the import and export industry as well
as logistic business in general, which enhanced the settlement
risks significantly. Although the Group endeavoured to seek other
business opportunities in this business segment during the year, it
believed that the business risks of this segment were still volatile and
required the exercise of caution and further risk control based on its
consistent strategy of strict compliance with risk management and
control. Therefore, the sales revenue from this business segment for
the year was only approximately HK$4.2 million (2019: approximately
HK$185.7 million).

English name for identification purpose only

E3 G|
BHE_ZE_ZF+_A=Z+—HILEEFE &
ERCTEERARSAEPEAREME
i (TRE R IREBEEERY ; RS
BRNEETBHERIRENERE

RIEHEEIERE

BHE_E_ZF+_A=Z+—HILEFE &K
PR ENE AT BERERSEER
[RAE (BRI ) FE2AFBERMB AR
ERIEHHABEERNEART AN
T — HRIZREAICOVID-19F BZE 15 » B
Rl EE g ILEE D PES
SEBAFE - E_E_EBFEFHFEED
B P B 1B B B AR R 2 AR~ 525
WBELERERE HEEETELT ME-
HRAEAFEEERBARINBEEE
BREE LEBSBELAANERSMNE
Ne2EBEEIT (ZE—NF: N2b28E8E

7T) °

HESSE

HE _Z_ZF+_HBA=+—HLEEFE">
ECOVID- 19 BB E 2 KB E W IR R EIE
HEET 2REBRRDIFESE KT Mk
B SO ERIRIEEARE - NAE
NELE (BEES kAR NERBRHE
RIE B > £ BER AP £ A7 A5 8 PR
EEfNEEEE WHAIEREN GEZE) E
BERERRERZHRFMAREI MHIR
BEYERFGAEEE S5 c FAEARMCOVID-19
BIEREREE EEOMRENIAZTEE
RIRRET KIG - BERARER > AEE
BASKILEFE BN EMEE > BEPK
EE-ERSETRREZZRE BAILL
DESNERRB DN RSB A BlEE R
TEE—TBRERE MR AERILE
BOABEERAZALI2EESEBT (T
—NE 185 7THEBT) ©

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of money lending services

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the impact of the global
COVID-19 pandemic caused a general suspension in economic
activities and a series of prevention and control measures adopted
for social distancing led to the worsening of individual employment
and business environment. Similarly, the PRC Mainland market was
also affected and hence the credit risk in the money lending services
was perceived to be significantly higher accordingly. Given the
stringent economic situation and business outlook, the Group strictly
adhered to cautious credit assessment and review policies by timely
assessing existing and potential clients’ credit profile with reference
to the then market condition and their respective background. In
view of the current uncertain economic condition that affected
forecasts on asset valuation, business forecast and individual’s
repayment abilities, the Group adopted a more prudent approach
in selecting qualified credit applicants for potential business
opportunities to strictly control risks. Therefore, the revenue from this
business segment was only approximately HK$0.01 million (2019:
approximately HK$0.8 million).

OUTLOOK

Given that the PRC Mainland and the global society and economy
are still facing severe challenges, the precious metal and money
lending businesses still require cautious assessment and robust
risk control when the global pandemic is not yet under control. In
the PRC Mainland, with the effective prevention and control of the
pandemic, the education management service business will gradually
recover, but it still faces severe challenges. We will strive to seek
further opportunities to consolidate our education management
service business and market position, carefully manage precious
metal and money lending businesses, and continue to strengthen
risk control. All in all, the Group will strive to seek development in the
balance of risk control in its existing business model.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESRAEADH

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had a total
revenue of approximately HK$10.5 million (2019: approximately
HK$216.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately 95.2%
as compared with 2019. The Group recorded loss of approximately
HK$46.7 million (2019: approximately HK$26.3 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2020, representing an increase of
approximately 77.7% as compared to 2019. The increase in loss
was mainly attributable to net effect of:

(@) a significant decrease in the Group’s total revenue of
approximately 95.2% as discussed in above;

(b) a decrease in trading losses on commodity forward contracts
of approximately HK$2.7 million;

(c) a decrease in the carrying value of inventories sold of
approximately HK$179.2 million;

(d) a decrease in change in fair value of commodity inventories of
approximately HK$1.6 million;

(e) a decrease in employee costs of approximately HK$2.7 million;

(f)  the fair value loss on investment in unlisted equity securities of
approximately HK$11.8 million;

(g0 a loss allowance of approximately HK$5.2 million provided on
loan receivable and trade and other receivables; and

(h) a decrease in other operating expenses of approximately
HK$4.3 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s loss attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately HK$46.9 million, as
compared to the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$34 million for 2019.

The key performance indicators of the Group include those provided
above and in the sections “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, “Business Review”, “Capital Structure, Liquidity and
Financial Resources” and “Financial Summary” of this annual report.
They help the management to set, evaluate, implement and control
strategies so as to improve the performance of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$29 million (2019: approximately HK$28.7
million) and net current assets of approximately HK$33.4 million
(2019: approximately HK$52.6 million). As at 31 December 2020, the
current ratio stood at 9.85 times (2019: 6.69 times).

The Group generally finances its operations primarily with internally
generated cash. The increase in cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$0.2 million mainly represented the net effect of
the proceed from issue of placing shares and decrease in the trade
receivable, netting off the loss for the year.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no outstanding borrowings
(2019: Nil).

As at 31 December 2020, no banking facilities were granted to
the Group (2019: nil). The Directors believed that the Group has
adequate financial resources to fulfill its commitments and working
capital requirements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, there was no significant investment
held, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020. There was no other plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBESWADH

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 20 November
2020 and 26 November 2020, the Company had completed placing
of 115,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a placing price of
HK$0.148 per placing share on 26 November 2020.

The placing price of HK$0.148 per placing share under the placing
represents: (i) a discount of approximately 4.52% to the closing price
of HK$0.155 per ordinary share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 20 November 2020, being the date of the placing agreement;
and (ii) a discount of approximately 19.57% to the average closing
price of approximately HK$0.184 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days immediately prior
to the date of the placing agreement.

The net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and
other related expenses and professional fees) from the 115,000,000
placing shares amounted to approximately HK$16.63 million. The
Company intends to apply such net proceeds from the placing for its
existing businesses and for general working capital.

As at 31 December 2020, the aforesaid net proceeds use which are
consistent with the intended use of proceeds has been applied as
follows:
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General working capital —REEES 16,632 = 16,632

As at 31 December 2020, net proceeds not yet utilized were
deposited with licensed bank in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 32 staffs
(2019: 28 staffs). The total employee costs, including remuneration
of the Directors, for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$21.4 million (2019: approximately HK$24.1
million).

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical and provident fund. Share options
and bonuses are also available to employees of the Group at
the discretion of the Directors and depending upon the financial
performance of the Group.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2020, no Group’s asset was pledged as security
(2019: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

As at 31 December 2020, no gearing ratio was presented as the
Group has net cash surplus (2019: net cash surplus).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation or claims of material
importance pending or threatened against any member of the
Group (2019: Nil) and there has not been any material change in the
contingent liabilities of the Group since 31 December 2020.

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s bank balances and maintain strong and healthy liquidity
to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future
growth opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBESWADH

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales, purchase and borrowings are predominantly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars and Renminbi. The
Directors considered that the Group had no significant exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations and believed it was not necessary
to hedge against any exchange risk. Nevertheless, the Company’s
management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
position and will take any future measures if appropriate.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment and capital expenditure (2019: Nil).

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events after the reporting period of the
Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Wendong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 53, has been appointed
as an executive Director in May 2018 and re-designated as chief
executive officer of the Company in October 2018. Mr. Wang was
also appointed as the chairman of the board of the Company since
January 2019. Mr. Wang has more than 26 years of extensive
experience in real economy investment. Since the 1990s, Mr. Wang
has served as a group vice president in an international group of
companies. Such group has significant footprint in the PRC Mainland
and Hong Kong including international trade, farming, education,
culture industry, real estate and consumer goods.

Since his appointment as the chairman of the Board at the beginning
of 2019, Mr. Wang has continuously adjusted and enhanced
the composition of the Board and management members of the
Company to ensure the healthy development of the precious
metal industry, and successfully introduced a new industry (the
educational management service industry) to obtain returns and
profits in the year of investment. Positive and favourable responses
have been received given the healthy market capitalisation of the
Company. With the continuous efforts of Mr. Wang in improving and
strengthening the management and internal control, the Company is
in a more sound financial position.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

WTESE

EXREE (EXRE) 83m KRN
FHREZARMTEFRN_T—N\F+
ARERERABTHAH ELRETBE-Z
—NF-—REEZERTRATEETER-
FTRECEREEREREABB20ENE
BB -RNATERMAG TREMRE—K
BERASDERETEEAGS ZEBRET
BERMMEBRERES RE HE X
EFX - HMENHERSAROTAEEZNE
B o

ITRERZZ-NFIREEFTEEIREU
o NEFAEMMBRARDNEFEUREER
RE HBRTESBEXRNRREER WK
MEIAMEX HEEERBER) ~BRE
FRA-EFEK -BEFERFN AFHER
BROESEERFNRE - ELRETHTE
MM ABER RME BB EMRRE-

15



16

BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

Mr. Fung Chi Kin (“Mr. Fung”), aged 71, has been appointed
as an executive Director since June 2019 and also appointed
as the compliance officer of the Company in August 2019. Mr.
Fung is the honorary permanent president of the Chinese Gold &
Silver Exchange Society and director of Fung Chi Kin Consulting
Limited. Mr. Fung has over 34 years of experience in banking and
finance. Prior to his retirement, he was the director and deputy
general manager of Po Sang Bank Limited (merged into Bank
of China (Hong Kong) Limited in 2001), managing director of
BOCI Securities Limited and chief administration officer of BOC
International Holdings Limited. From October 1998 to June 2000,
Mr. Fung served as a council member of the first Legislative Council
of the HKSAR. He also held offices in various public organizations
and was the vice chairman of the Stock Exchange, director of
the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited, director of Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited and Hong Kong Affairs Advisor.
Mr. Fung is appointed as a non-executive director of Sang Hing
Holdings (International) Limited (Stock Code: 1472) since July 2018,
the shares of which are recently listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from 17 March 2020. Mr. Fung also served as an
executive director and compliance officer of China Trustful Group
Limited (formerly known as Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 8265) from March 2019 to October 2019 and from
September 2014 to May 2017, the shares of which are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fung has been an independent
non-executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited (Stock Code: 682) since September 2003 and Geotech
Holdings Ltd. (Stock Code: 1707) from September 2017 to August
2020 respectively. Mr. Fung has also been an independent non-
executive director of China Overseas Nuoxin International Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Kenford Group Holding Limited) (Stock
Code: 464) from August 2017 to April 2019. Each of the shares of
Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited, Geotech Holdings
Ltd. and China Overseas Nuoxin International Holdings Limited are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Tianshu (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 45, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Mr.
Zhou is currently the senior vice president of JEIIEZ IS EMEE A
fR A~ B)(Shenzhen Yunyi General Aviation Technology Limited*) and
was the executive CEO of Skyho Aviation Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr.
Zhou received a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Civil Aviation
University of China and a master’s degree in law from Wuhan
University. Mr. Zhou has over 21 years of experience in enterprise
planning, business investment and risk control. Mr. Zhou has worked
in a major state-owned aviation enterprise in the PRC Mainland
for over 18 years, mainly in enterprise planning and management
positions. Mr. Zhou also held management positions in China Aircraft
Leasing Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1848) in Hong Kong,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and its subsidiary, Aircraft Recycling International Limited.

Ms. Wu Liyan (“Ms. Wu”), aged 35, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Ms. Wu
is currently the marketing director of Pacific International Securities
Limited. Ms. Wu received a bachelor's degree in science from
University of Minnesota and a master’s degree in science from
New York University. Ms. Wu has more than 11 years of marketing
and business development experiences in renowned investment
management companies.

* English name for identification purpose only
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BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San (“Ms. Wong”), aged 47, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since February
2019. Ms. Wong has been a certified practising accountant of
the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants and a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since May 1999 and May 2000, respectively.
She is also a member of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors, a fellow and a certified tax adviser of the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong. Ms. Wong has more than 21 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and taxation. She is the founder of Messrs.
C.S. Wong & Co. and a director of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited.
Ms. Wong has been an independent non-executive director of Ban
Loong Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 30) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since October 2014. From January
2015 to September 2019, Ms. Wong was the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Astrum Financial Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8333) which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. From
April 2012 to August 2015, Ms. Wong was as the company secretary
of Yin He Holdings Limited (formerly known as Zebra Strategic
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8260) which is listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. From November 2014 to June 2017, Ms. Wong
was also the company secretary of Youth Champ Financial Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Grand Investment International
Limited) (Stock Code: 1160) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Fung Chi Kin is the compliance officer of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr. Chiu”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary with effect from 28 August 2020. Mr. Chiu,
aged 43, currently serves as an executive director of corporate
services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. He has over 16
years of experience in the company secretarial field. He is currently
(1) the joint company secretary of Shanghai Haohai Biological
Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6826); (2) the joint company secretary
of Kunming Dianchi Water Treatment Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3768); (3)
the company secretary of Grace Wine Holdings Limited, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8146); (4) the
joint company secretary of AAG Energy Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2686);
(5) the joint company secretary of CanSino Biologics Inc., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
6185); (6) the company secretary of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 851); and (7) the company secretary of JD Health International
Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6618).

Mr. Chiu has been an associate member of the Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS”) since 2003 and
has become a fellow member of both the HKICS and the Chartered
Governance Institute since September 2015. He is also a holder of
the Practitioner’s Endorsement Certificate issued by HKICS. From
2020, he has been a council member of HKICS, vice-chairman of the
Membership Committee and chairman of Professional Services Panel
of HKICS.

Mr. Chiu obtained a bachelor of arts from University of Toronto in
Canada in June 1999 and received a master of arts in professional
accounting and information systems from City University of Hong
Kong in November 20083.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

K[ERE

HEARAE (T8EAE)), 48m BZZFZ
FENAZ+NHEEZERRABME- IEEI%
#Vistra Corporate Services (HK) LimitedRy
REIBBUITES  BERRBWETERES
B16FER MBERFH(1)LERBEYRIK
RIDBRAB (A—BERERMERLETH
NE RDHEE 6826) THMEABME ;
()EBEMKBRMARRE (H— B H
RPTER ETHRAF > BRGRSE : 3768) 2
BEABME Q)REBEERERAR (3
— IR BRZPIGEM E MR R E]  BRH R
8146) 2 REIME ; WREERERERR
8 (A—ERBZmERLETHNRE] KD
38 1 2686) 2 MEABRIME ;6)EHHE
MRHB AT (B—ERBIMMER LT
2] BRAEE: 6185) 2B AR ME ;(6)%%
FRERBRAE (B—HERERMMER T
BAE BRIAMAIE 1 851) 2ARAME ; MKk
MREREROBRAT (BB
FIREMHRE] BRHAIN  6618) 2 RE]
M o

ﬁf‘ﬁi@:;@ngﬁi—g%++.¢té¢@ﬂ

REAE FIMEBRRFUERTHRAER

g MEBRANE LG (FERARFHER
g)EE UEB_ZT-HFNAEHAASE
BRFMELAERERFHFLARNAELAEZ
BERGE -RITFAHERRNELGR
HHAEERAEHE - AT _FFiE>
ReBBRANELAEGNEFTENE KA
RAaEARFUNEAENEREZETEE
& MR BERB/NENEE -

HEER—NAANERBEMEAZRZK
BRREXZ E?ij:ﬁ“u’\ RIBE=F+—
REEARTAZNRSEXEFREERN
E’JX%EE\i%MO

19



20

CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

The Group is committed to attain a high standard of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of its shareholders
and enhance the shareholder value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
During the year ended 31 December 2020, to the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company has complied with the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Code Provisions”), save for the deviation from the Code Provision
A.2.1 as explained below.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions carried out by Directors, that is not laxer than relevant
standards of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, they
confirmed they have complied with the standards of dealings and
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions carried out by
Directors, adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31
December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a) Board Composition
The Board currently consists of 5 Directors including 2
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Wendong and Mr. Fung
Chi Kin; and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan and Ms. Wong Susan Chui
San.

The biographical details of all Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out on pages 15 to 19 of this annual
report. To the best knowledge of the Company, save as
disclosed under the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships among members of
the Board.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Function of the Board

The Board considers, oversees and approves the overall
businesses, strategic direction and financial performance of
the Group; develops and performs the corporate governance
duties of the Group; monitors the implementation of these
policies and strategies and responsible for the management of
the Group. The Board is the ultimate decision-making body of
the Company except for matters requiring shareholder approval
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws
and regulations.

Daily operation of the Company is delegated to the
management team with substantial experience and expertise to
which the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the policies and strategies of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Articles.

The Board schedules 4 meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals and will meet as necessary. The Company
Secretary prepares minutes to record matters discussed and
decisions resolved at the Board meetings. Minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary with copies circulated to all Directors
for information and records.

The Board held 11 meetings during the year ended 31
December 2020. The Directors’ attendance to the Board
meetings is listed out on page 29.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Under the Code Provision A.4.1, independent non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of one year commencing from date of appointment or re-
appointment subject to termination, among others, by giving
not less than one month’s written notice.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

Each of the executive Directors have entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from date of appointment or re-appointment to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract.

In compliance with the Code Provision A.4.2, all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
By virtue of article 68 of the Articles, the Board may, at any
time, and from time to time, appoint any person to be a
Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition
to their number so long as the number of Directors does not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time (if
any) by the shareholders in any general meeting. Any Director
so appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of members after the appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company, and shall then be eligible for reappointment, but
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at each
annual general meeting.

In compliance with the Code Provision A.4.2, every director,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Further, pursuant to article 69 of the Articles, at
each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for
the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number of Directors nearest to but not greater
than one third of the total number of Directors (or such other
number as may be required under applicable legislation),
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last election but as between
persons who become Directors on the same day, the Directors
to retire shall be (unless otherwise agreed amongst themselves)
in order by which such Directors were appointed on the day of
their last election.
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(e)

(f)

CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has 3 independent non-executive Directors
which complies with Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Among the 3 independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Wong
Susan Chui San has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-
third of the Board in compliance with Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written confirmation or an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers
the independent non-executive Directors are or have been
remained independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated. Currently,
Mr. Wang Wendong holds both positions. Since Mr. Wang
Wendong joined the Company in May 2018, he has held the
key leadership position of the Group and has been involved
in the formulation of corporate strategies and management of
business and operations of the Group gradually. Taking into
account the consistent leadership within the Group and in
order to enable more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning and continuation of the implementation of such plans,
the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
consider that Mr. Wang Wendong is the best candidate for
both positions and the present arrangements are beneficial
and in the interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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(9)

Directors’ Participation in Continuous Professional
Trainings

According to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Each
newly appointed Director would receive a comprehensive
induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
arranged and/or introduced some training courses/relevant
reading materials for the Directors to develop and explore their
knowledge and skills in relation to the updates on laws, rules
and regulations which might be relevant to their roles.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with Code
Provision A.6.5 on the directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, all Directors who were in office
as at 31 December 2020 have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars or reading
materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

(9)
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Attending training
courses/reading
relevant materials

in relation to

the business,

GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

HEBMRER-

GEM_Em R A

BEERSZIENER

Name of Director EENA FEERER

Executive Directors: WMITES:

Mr. Wang Wendong EXESE Yesig

Mr. Fung Chi Kin BERSE Yes2
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIIEMITES :

Mr. Zhou Tianshu BXE & Yes2

Ms. Wu Liyan SEMR T+ YesiE

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San =Rzt Yes2
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance and
Indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
and indemnity covering the liabilities in respect of the legal
action against the Directors that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the Code Provisions.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to achieve diversity within the Board. The
Company considered diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and education
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is responsible for reviewing the board diversity
policy and monitor the progress on achieving the objectives
set for implementing the said policy from time to time. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the
measurable objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

Nomination Policy and Process for Nominating Directors
The Nomination Committee and the Board have followed
the nomination policy and board diversity policy of the
Company for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
In reviewing the structure of the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will consider the Board diversity
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. With a
view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

(h)

(i)

1)

EXERRS

ESRRERERRERAE

RABERIEBEENEEREKRBE
ZHE LURERSER BFEFSHPEEN
HHEEFAERITHNEAEE LT
BTRMEX R REHLE T FiRsT—
o

EFTMESTICER
EFXECHEMESTAESTEHR
HhHEAENEEEMES TIEZS
H-ARFEHREFTEMESZTIEE
TEZESE SFEERRIRMER
FH -XER¥BEER BXER K
FE-MBRRBEE - HERAFEN
HEER AARRESTTEEADS
TIEAXFHE BB R RERH
FELERNBBTIR -EFEMAZME
HURAMEA BRE - 3 LUE S 2R ZE
BAE ROBEREFEMEZTIERN
B e

EABRLZEES ((RBREE®) &
EEREFTNESZTIEHRL AR
EEERLABRRHTEERNERIE
M RREETREVEEER —RZ
HRNAIHERR UNEEFRESS
BFEERMIE -

EFEZRABERERF
RLZEGREZFGEERBEAQTH
RBABRNEFGZTIEBREZER
ENZAEF -NEREFTIRER
RRPEZEEREFERNZE/LES
BEFEMNZ b BFEERNERMK
FlR - -XTERBEBEHR FEL
B HMAikRFFE- /T ER
ARERTEER A ABBREET
BERNBEZZ X FER LR
BERRAFEERNEEZERR -ERD
EZEEFEZENEE T FATE
BEAMENRIZEMBEEETEM
B TUBEREZEMREAN-

25



CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

BOARD COMMITTEES

(a)

Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written terms of reference
that was amended and adopted with effect from 2 January
2019 in compliance with the Code Provision C.3. The duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form, the
Company’s annual report and accounts, half-yearly report
and quarterly report and providing advice and comments to
the Board. In this regard, members of the Audit Committee
will liaise with the Board, the Company’s senior management
and the auditors. The Audit Committee will also consider any
significant or usual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts and give consideration to any
matters that have been raised by the Company’s accounting
staff, compliance officers or auditors. Members of the Audit
Committee are also responsible for reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems.

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan
and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and Mr. Zhou Tianshu is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit
Committee held 5 meetings, at which it has reviewed the
annual, interim and quarterly results, evaluated the Group’s
financial reporting process and made recommendations to
improve the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, discussed with the external auditors the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit commences, and made recommendation to the Board
on re-appointment and change of the external auditors. The
members’ attendance to the Audit Committee meetings is
listed out on page 29.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
which were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the coming annual general
meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will be re-appointed
as the auditors of the Company at the coming annual general
meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board
did not take different view from the Audit Committee on the
appointment of external auditors.
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Executive Committee

The Company established the executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”) on 19 December 2016 with written
terms of reference. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the formulation, revision and
implementation of the Company’ s strategic plan and monitor
the operation of its subsidiaries.

The Executive Committee currently comprises 2 executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wang Wendong, Mr. Fung Chi Kin
and 1 independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu. Mr. Wang Wendong is the chairman of the Executive
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no meetings were
held by the Executive Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.1.
Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of all of the executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board on remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and 1
executive Director, Mr. Wang Wendong. Ms. Wu Liyan is the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held 2 meetings, at which it has reviewed the
remuneration of each Director and made recommendations
to the Board. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration
Committee meetings is listed out on page 29.
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Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5, the remuneration of the
senior management (excluding the Directors) by band for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

HE_Z_Z¥F+_HA=+—HLtHEF
EEEFHMEBHENESHBEHRERN
£t8o

RIEFAMEEBASK BE_ZTZ
TE+_A=+t—HLEFERLESD
THEREERE FTEEESR) FM &
IS

Number of Individuals

Emolument bands il <& &6 & AE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 7t % 1,500,000 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017& 5 E 2,000,000 7T 1

(d) Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22
July 2014 with written terms of reference that was strictly
adhered to and adopted in compliance with Code Provision
A.5. The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on appointment
and succession planning of the Directors. The procedures
for Nomination of Directors include the measures taken by
the Nomination Committee that it considers appropriate in
connection with its identification and evaluation of a candidate
after it determines that an additional or replacement director
is required. Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
position of director, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to approve the
recommendation to the Board and may submit the candidate’s
personal profile to the Board for consideration.During the year
ended 31 December 2020, by considering of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, culture and
education background, professional experience, professional
skills, knowledge and length of service of each Director, the
Company forms a diversified structure of the Board and
embraces the diversified composition of the Board will be
beneficial to meet the development needs of the Company. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed the board diversity policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
achieved the objectives of its board diversity policy for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 2 independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu and Ms. Wu
Liyan and 1 executive Director, Mr. Wang Wendong. Mr. Wang
Wendong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held 1 meeting, at which it has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The members’
attendance to the Nomination Committee meetings is listed out
on page 29.

EXERRS

ﬁi_§_§$+_ﬁ:+—5¢¢
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(e) Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committee (e) EFCTTR EFEEETEREERX
Meetings and General Meetings BHHERER
Details of the attendance of the Directors at the Board BHE_TZFE+HA=+—HIEHF
meetings, Board committee meetings and general meetings E ZEEHEEETEER " EELET
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows: BREMREAGNFHEBUT
Number of Meetings Attended/Held During the Year Ended 31 December 2020
BECZ-ZHE+-AS+—HLEEEHE BONEERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination Executive Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BERZEY FM&Sg R4ZEY BTEEY RRIBE
i EXegd i o i -k g
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Wang Wendong 11/11 N/ATER 2/2 11 0/0 11
IXHEEE
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 11/11 N/AT B N/ATEF N/ATREH 0/0 1/1
BEREE
Independent
Non-Executive Directors
BiEHTES
Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian (Note 1) 411 3/5 1/2 N/AT B N/ATE R N/ATER
ARIEE (ME1)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu (Note 2) 11/11 5/5 2/2 11 0/0 11
BXREFEE (HzF2)
Ms. Wu Liyan 11/11 5/5 2/2 11 N/ATE R 11
REFL LT
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 11/11 5/5 2/2 N/AT B N/ATE R 11
BRfwt
Note 1:  resigned as Independent Non-Executive Directors, member of each i1 RIZEZZEFRAANBHIBEIULIEHR
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the TEH BEZEZEE - FNEEERIE
Nomination Committee on 6 May 2020. HEBEME -
Note 2:  appointed as member of each of the Nomination Committee and the fffzF2: MRIZZEZFRANBEZTARSA
Executive Committee on 6 May 2020. ZE® Ez#tﬁ%ﬁ RE -
BIRZERBRAE | ZSZESEER
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the fees paid/payable to the
Company’s external auditors in respect of the audit and non-audit
services were as follows:

4% 24 B i B
BE_ZEF+_RB=1+—HLEFE
BRKRIIFBZRFBEN AR ABINEZ
AR ERWT

Type of services HK$
RFEER BT
Audit services BIZR 600,000
Non-audit services JEEIZARFE 6,000
Total 4Bt 606,000

The non-audit services mainly included tax compliance and other
tax services. The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature
and the service charges of non-audit services performed by external
auditor and considered that such services have no adverse effect on
the independence of the external auditor.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows during the year ended 31 December 2020.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements during the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimated that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting duties on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 82 to 90 of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’ s internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities
for maintaining an effectiveness of the systems of internal control
and risk management of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial and operation. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group would choose certain material risk events in its field
every year and assess and grade the possibility of occurrence and
influence of risk events to determine the scope of material risk of
the year together with the management of the Group. Procedures
have been designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiencies
of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorized use and
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records
and the truth and fairness of the financial statements, and ensuring
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations. Qualified
management throughout the Group maintains and monitors the
internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner is
required to capture and identify the key inherent risks that affect
the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is evaluated
according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the risk
response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register
with the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the
systems and report to the Board. The highest category of residual
risks is subject to the Board's oversight.

The Group does not have an internal audit function and is currently
of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. Each year, the Board engaged
an independent consultant company to conduct internal audit
function in order to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is of the
view that the systems of risk management and internal control
adopted for the year ended 31 December 2020 were assessed to
be satisfactory and were functioning properly, to a large extent,
in safeguarding the assets employed by the Group. The Board
and the Audit Committee have both reviewed the systems of risk
management and internal control on an annual basis.
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The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report
issued by the independent consultancy company on the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2020 and considered that they are effective and
adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering the internal control review report and reviews
performed by the Audit Committee and concurred the same. It also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience of
relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget
provided were sufficient.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR

THE HANDING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board has already implemented restriction on disseminating
non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional selective
disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure of inside
information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent any breach of disclosure
requirement from time to time. Employees are required to promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the
attention of the Chief Executive Officer, or his delegates, who will
notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the appropriate
action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the Board
will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed, externally, Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr.
Chiu”) as the Company Secretary. His biographical details are set
out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. During the year ended 31
December 2020, Mr. Chiu has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chiu’s primary contact with
the Company is Mr. Wang Wendong, the executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company has not made any significant changes to its
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.

EREZECERBIUBHATIMNEARTERE
TECTFF+ A=+ —HLEFENRRE
BRI EZEGELBNAPEIZERRK
S URBAEFNENBERIRTE - EBE
EANEEERRENEZZETHTH
BERCEFETEANMEEFRENARE
TRELEER - HTRA HEABINSA
BB ERERTY B BIRHAENRE
RIAETHTER

REREHNEN
PEFRTE

i BNEFRABE

EFCERINANIEN HHRARIIFAFRE
BHHE hREES EBEREEERE -
EWRBEBARHESHE URERKIRERE

FeoaihEBEEBHARN—USEEE E
REABIEERB IR EMIBHEFEHE » LA &
FEERKE - BEEBNRIEESREERE

FEKRBEADTIEARSEENTMETERR
NEB WERFBNESFGARRNES
NITESH NBEBEERARE EFER AT
FIETE E A T LU E A ERENITE 7 &
B ZR b Mk R AR o

[AEME

RABEINEHARE (THEE) BER
BAIME HEEFBHNATFER r%%)ﬁ’z%‘
MEEBABZBESB —H -BE_ZTZ
TE+_HA=+—HLFE HEEDER
RIRIFRGEM ETHRRIESAFREL MED
16/NEFRVAERA Bl o R E R A RAN
ITEMBASHTEFREFEIRFEIXR
ok e

SERWBSEXH
BE_Z_TF+_RB=+— EIJLEF“ ZIS
AEEEXHUBRERNERESE

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a
right to vote at general meetings of the Company and shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) to be convened by the Board.
Such requisition, signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include a text of resolution that is intended to be moved
at the meeting. If within 21 days from the date of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to such meeting the shareholders concerned
may themselves convened an EGM, but any EGM so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months after the date
on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a
meeting.

If a shareholder (other than the candidate) wishes to propose any
candidate as director of the Company, the following documents
should be duly lodged at the head office of the Company at Unit

01, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong
Kong, not earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting and not later than seven days prior to the date fixed
for the meeting:

(@) a written notice by the shareholder of his intention to propose
a resolution for the appointment or reappointment of that
candidate, duly signed by the shareholder with his/her name
and address stated clearly in an eligible manner, the validity
of which is subject to verification and confirmation by the
Company’ s share registrar according to its records;

(b) a written notice duly executed by the candidate of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed;

(c) written consent of the publication of the candidate’ s
information together with the candidate’s biographical
information as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and

(d) the candidate’ s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining an on-
going communication with shareholders to ensure that shareholders
are kept well informed of the business activities and direction of the
Group.

The Company uses a range of communication tools including
various notices, announcements, circulars, annual report and annual
general meeting to disclose relevant information to shareholders.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meeting on each
substantially separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.
The Chairman and the chairmen of all board committees, together
with the external auditors, shall attend the annual general meeting to
answer the enquiries of shareholders. In compliance with the Code
Provision E.1.3, the notice of annual general meeting will be sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

To further promote the effective communication with shareholders
and the public, the corporate website is maintained to disseminate
the information of the Group electronically on a timely basis.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company currently do not have a fixed dividend policy and
may declare dividends by way of cash or by other means that the
Directors consider appropriate. A decision to declare any interim
dividend or recommend any final dividend would require the approval
of the Board and depend upon the following factors:

(@) the Group’ s financial results;
(b)  the shareholders’ interests;

(c) general business conditions, strategies and future expansion
needs;

(d) the Group’ s capital requirements;

(e) the payment by its subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company;

(f)  possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the Group;
and

(9) other factors as the Board may consider relevant.
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VOTING BY POLL

All resolutions put to the general meeting will be voted by poll at the
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules.

To ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll, the chairman of the meeting will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll at the commencement
of the meeting and then answer any questions from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.

At the conclusion of the general meeting, the poll results will be
published on the GEM website and the Company’ s website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries from shareholders to the Board can be sent in writing to
the Company at the registered office in Hong Kong or by email to
info@locohkholdings.com as stated on the Company’ s website.
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RIE-HHEREGBHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with its
subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “us”)
is pleased to present 2020 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “Report”), which enables stakeholders to know more
about the Group’s progress and direction in sustainability aspects
by reporting on its policies, measures and performance in various
sustainability issues.

The Report is prepared and published in both Chinese and English
at the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website (www.locohkholdings.com). In the event of
contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version and the
English version, the English version shall prevail.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group regarding
the environmental and social aspects from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 (the “reporting period”).

Reporting Scope

The Group’s core businesses include provision of education
management services in PRC Mainland and trading of metal,
commodity forward contracts and provision of money lending
services in Hong Kong.

Affected by factors such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the global and
the PRC Mainland economic outlook recovery faces a challenging
situation, our business segments and their respective operations
were inevitably affected in the reporting period. The Report covers
important core businesses in Hong Kong, the physical boundaries
include offices and metal processing facilities.

To enable comparison of the Group’s yearly performance and
progress in sustainability, the reporting methodologies of the two
consecutive reports are aligned. We focus on improving our data
collection system and expanding our disclosure scope.
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Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with all applicable provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and on the basis of the
four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency.

All the information cited in this report was derived from the Group’s
official documents, statistical data as well as management and
operational information collected in accordance with the Group’s
policies. The ESG Report has been confirmed and approved by the
Board on 25 March 2021.

Feedback

Stakeholder opinions matter as they facilitate the Group to map out
important environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) issues and
give the Group inspiration on how to improve its ESG performance. If
you have any comments about the report, please contact the Group
via the following channels:

Mail: Unit 401, 4/F Fairmont House,
8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Email: info@locohkholdings.com
Phone: 2203 0999
Fax: 2205 0099
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RE-HERELGRS

Stakeholder Engagement FinEsH

The Group is committed to operating in a socially responsible and ZAEBAFFAIFHEMBIAUALTEES
transparent manner with regards to all stakeholders, including BZEBHEENFREE - FNHNECLERE T
employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers, regulatory B -RE -HEB BEEERERTT AR -5
authorities and the general community. To maintain and develop #EFEERTERFLEARMKRIE RMANE
good corporate citizenship, we aim to engage fully and openly with 1Z2BEBEZBERNEBRE  EREFMD
all stakeholders through a diverse array of effective communication & B Eith R BEZERER o

channels.
Employees o Annual performance appraisal system
=] FEZZEKS
o Training, seminars and briefing sessions
Bl AR RERE
° Staff communication
BIXRM
Customers o Client relationship contacts
=R REE PG ZIEE
° Company website
NEH L
o Customer service hotline
B R ARTE AR
Shareholders ° Annual General Meeting and other general meetings
f% =8 RRBFAGRAEMBREARE
o Investor and press conferences and briefings
REERTHEERS BRE
o Company website
NGIE s
o Corporate communications including announcements, press releases. circulars, interim and
annual reports
rEEF ORFAST - FEB AR PHARSEFERS
Suppliers o Regular supplier communications and reviews
HEER 7E HA B9 11 F& 7 227 e A% 5
Regulators ° Regular meetings and communications
EsE e ERERMTN
° On-site review
H5ED
o Compliance reports
SRERE
° Training, focus groups and other events
FEE ~ /NAR R B B R ELAMUE B
Community o Sponsorships and donations
Fan BBy IR
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Materiality Assessment

The Group directly engaged with our stakeholders as part of the
materiality assessment process for developing the report. Materiality
is determined by considering Group’s most significant economic,
environmental, social impacts and stakeholders’ concerns.

Based on the results of the assessment, the Company will review its
longer-term strategy for addressing specific sustainability issues and
explore future opportunities for improving sustainability performance
and reporting.

The Group’s material ESG issues summaries as follows:

Material environmental aspects:

Hazardous waster
Environment and natural resources
Water efficiency

Material social aspects:

Customers’ information and privacy protection
Anto-corruption
Intellectual property

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Hong Kong has a very stringent control regime on matters
which are covered by the ESG Report and especially on
pollution and water discharge. The Group, in order to develop
a sustainable business and striving for a higher level of
product quality and business return, undertakes environmental
protection in a very serious and responsible manner. The Group
is determined and committed to developing a sustainable
business and have taken initiatives to secure a sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operating processes by
taking all practicable and possible measures to comply with the
relevant applicable statutory provisions. Abiding by the law and
complying with regulatory standards are the guiding principle of
the Group.
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The Group is principally engaged in the trading of precious
metals in Hong Kong. Silver scrap is purchased as raw material
for processing into finished silver products in our scrap metal
processing facility in Kwai Chung. Its operation enhances the
marketability and facilitates the trading of our silver products.
The precious metal processing facility in Kwai Chung occupying
approximately 7,500 sqg. ft. houses the fully integrated metal
melting plant. In the effect of global COVID-19 pandemic and
economic situation worldwide, although the basic operation
of facility continued in the reporting period, no production
or processing work was carried out in the reporting period.
Emissions and consumption of energy reduced significantly as
a result.

A1. Emissions
(a) Policy
Most of the Group’s business activities are of
a general office nature and do not generate
air emission which has a significant impact or
materiality to the environment as far as the Group
is concerned with the exception of the scrap metal
processing facility. Silver scrap is melted in our
scrap metal processing facility and processed into
various sizes, shapes and forms as specified by our
customers. In this process, water is used for cooling
after which is then discharged as wastewater.

Except for this wastewater, there are no other
significant air emissions and hazardous wastes
generated from our operations. As for wastewater
discharge, the Group strictly complies with the
stipulations of the Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the terms and conditions per the license issued
pursuant to Section 20 of the Ordinance. The Group
attaches serious concern and attention to this area
and abides by all applicable laws and statutory
provisions and takes all measures to ensure strict
compliance.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIALAND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HHEBRELBRS

REBFTEREENEESSBEZ K
MRBERIRENEAREZRANETSE
0 TR A0 T Ak 2R EL A S B R A7 ) o
HEBiEeBHEEEARERE
5o A 7,500F A RN EFE S
BNIXREEEEZERESTBREK
B R2EHEERMCOVID-19HE
BEREFE ZIBEERSHANHE
EEEFEE BREBPNERBEEN
I TR E(E > ZEESRE R HFE R BERUK
I8 P& o

Al. HEE
(a) H#E
KREBARIDERTHA

—RPBAE A EEFT
o PREEE BN T s
FTEEHREABARLEN
B SR BB o B 3R BE L 1E Fo AP
BY < /38 B I T sk e & 16
MIEREENSEER
TR KRR - EIER
oo KRS AN BB AE
73 BEIKBER

BREEKIN ) RPN EE M
EEHMERERFBRKR
BEERERY s B KEIEM
B rEEBRKREST(OKS
RERED ) (FEEH S
358F) 2R EURIREZ
1B SE201R 38 tH = R IR P AR
T BVRRUR AR 1 - R EE B 45
BIRRE R EAR AR 0 I
SPREBRERREEMRX
R PR BT RBES S
e

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



(b)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE-HERELGRS

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group

The operations and activities of the scrap precious
metal processing facility are subject to the statutory
control regime of pollution control. The Group has
obtained all the required statutory registrations
and licenses required of the precious metal
processing facility: () Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) — Waste
Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
and (ii) Registration as a Chemical Waste Producer
under Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation and (iii) Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
— Victoria Harbour (Phase One) Water Control Zone.

In order to obtain relevant registrations or licenses,
the Group must ensure its chemical wastes (e.g.
residual acidic solution, if any) will undergo proper
treatment before final disposal. This process is
under the supervision and monitoring of third party
companies registered with government and subject
to the inspection of the law enforcers.

The Group adopts all appropriate measures to
ensure that the quantity, quality and composition of
any discharge from our precious metal processing
facility shall not exceed the limits stipulated by
the Environmental Protection Department of
government. The Group strictly complies with all
stipulations of the laws, regulations and policies on
disposal.

Besides non-toxic cooling water, other wastes
produced which are of a general office nature are
properly disposed of by licensed waste collector
after undergoing the required treatment. Our
precious metal processing facility is subject to
the unannounced visits and inspection of the
government authority. During the year, the Group
has not received any fines, complaints or warnings
with regard to any hazardous gas emissions or
pollutions in air, noise, water or waste discharge.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
is straightly in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in this regard. They include but not
limited to Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400),
Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358) and Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354).

The types of emission and emission data of the
Group (KPI' A1.1)

General business operations and activities of
the Group involved offices and precious metal
processing.

Air emissions in the reporting period majorly
came from the exhaust of group-owned vehicles
used in daily transport service, except that we
do not generate complicate emission which is
considered of significant impact or materiality to the
environment, our operations or the control regime.
The emission data of air emissions were as follows:
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Greenhouse Gas Emission and intensity (KPI A1.2)

The Group’s awareness on greenhouse gas
emissions and climate change is ever increasing,
we focus on improving our data collection system
and expanding our disclosure scope. The Report
additionally covers the emissions of company-
owned vehicles and indirectly carbon emission
sources such as the processing of waste,
freshwater and sewage. We put our full effort in
collecting and disclosing holistic data set with
precision for us to continuously improve our
environmentally friendly policy. The GHG emission
data were as follows:
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GHG Emissions Unit 2020 2019
= R e HER B il o33 = hE
Scope 1 tonnes CO2-equivalent 9.99 -
#HE— RP—FERMEE
Scope 2 tonnes COz2-equivalent 15.85 32.41
#HE RB_EERES
Scope 3 tonnes CO2-equivalent 1.63 -
#HE= RB_FEHRES
Total GHG Emission tonnes CO2-equivalent 27.47 32.41
RERAEEIN RBE_SEREE
GHG Emission Intensity tonnes COz2-equivalent/ 6.45 0.15

million HKD
BRERBEBHEREE
BEET

Compare with the previous year, purchased
electricity in the offices and the precious metal
processing facility was still the main source of
GHG emissions, which accounted for around 58%
of the total GHG emissions. As no production or
processing work was carried out in the reporting
period, electricity consumption significantly reduced
and so as the indirect GHG emissions (reduced
around 51% to around 27.47 tonnes). For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group emitted
approximately 15.85 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (CO2-e) through the use of electricity
(2019: around 32.41 tonnes CO:2-e).
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A4

Scope 1 data refers to directly emissions from
exhaust of vehicles and scope 3 data refers to
indirect GHG emissions in processing of waste,
freshwater and sewage. The total GHG emissions
with a expanded scope in the reporting period is
still lower than that of the year 2019. It was mainly
due to the decrease in the operation of precious
metal processing business under the affect of global
business situation and COVID-19 pandemic. The
total GHG omissions in the year 2020 is decreased
by 15% as compared to the year 2019, however, as
revenue of the Group of the year 2020 drastically
reduced as a result of affected operation of precious
metal processing facilities, the GHG emissions
intensity (measured by million HKD of revenue)
significantly increase by more than 100%.

Total hazardous waste produced (KPI A1.3)

Under normal circumstances, only the operation
of the scrap precious metal processing facility
generates a small amount of chemical wastes,
which we consider having an impact on the
environment and our business operations. Such
wastes are mainly chemical in nature and disposal
is made through a third-party collector under the
close supervision and control of the government.
The handling of these wastes are required to comply
with its chemical requirements as specified by the
collectors and the law enforcers.

No hazardous waste was produced in the reporting
period as no production or processing work of
precious metal processing facilities was carried
out in the reporting period. Moreover, no chemical
waste was discharged in wastewater.
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Total non-hazardous waste produced (KPI A1.4)

Non-hazardous wastes are general office wastes.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
consumption of office paper was around 0.32
tonnes of office papers (2019: around 0.25 tonnes),
which increased by 28%. This was due to an
increased amount of project sourcing activities and
office utensils, the amount of which is insignificant,
and they are collected by the cleaning workers of
the building management offices on a daily basis.

Wastewater is generated when water is consumed
for cooling in the precious metal sectormetal
processing operation. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the scrap precious metal
sectormetal processing facility recorded a total
of around 186 tonnes of wastewater (2019: 361
tonnes), which decreased by around 50% against
the year 2019. The decrease was due to the
affected operation in the precious metal sector.

All wastewater discharged by the Group is in
compliance with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 358). The Group continues to
stay vigilant on the use and application of modern
technologies and installations to improve our
performance in this regard.

Mitigation measures on emission and results (KP/
A1.5)

Since the Group’s general business operations and
activities are mainly for ordinary office operations,
the indirect emission of greenhouse gas, through
the use of electricity, can be deemed to be our
major emission. Electricity consumption has cost
implications and is closely monitored. As a result of
continuously shrinking of precious metal processing
business, the consumption of water and electricity
and volume of wastewater discharge are on a
decreasing trend over the years. The Group also
stays abreast on any technological advancement
which can be used for reducing emissions.
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Handling and reduction of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste (KPI A1.6)

Hazardous wastes from the precious metal
processing facility are required to be collected by
a designated waste collector for ultimate disposal.
Our precious metal processing facility has to follow
all the prescribed steps, standards and measures
to properly handle the wastes before disposal. The
Group believes that by having complied fully and
without deviation from the prescribed norm and
standard, our hazardous wastes are properly and
duly handled. Our focus is therefore on emphasizing
adherence closely to prescribed procedures.

A2. Use of Resources

Policy on efficient use of resources including
energy, water and other raw materials

Water, electricity, and packaging materials (paper and
plastic bags) are the three major types of resources which
the Group uses. In respect of effective use of resources
(including energy, water and packaging materials), the
Group is committed to improving on energy efficiency,
conserving resources for our operations and activities and
raising the awareness of our employees in these areas.

Direct and indirect energy consumption by type and
their intensity (KPIl A2.1)

Electricity is the major source of energy which the Group
uses, it is vital to and has a significant impact on the
operation of our precious metal processing facility. The
consumption of petrol by group-owned vehicles came the
second.

A2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, a total of around
25,602 kilowatt-hour (’kWh”) (2019: around 57,912 kWh)
electricity was consumed by our material business units
(including precious metal processing facility and Hong
Kong office respectively). The electricity consumption
decreased by approximately 56% when compared to
that of previous year as the precious metal processing
business turnover decreased.

Our vehicles ran on petrol and the corresponding energy
consumption is around 36,393kWh. As this energy
consumption is additional as part of the expanded
scope, the total energy consumption, including electricity
consumption and petrol consumption, increased to
around 61,995kWh.

For energy intensity, per million HKD revenue we
consumed around 14,553kWh. Overall, the usage of
electricity in various offices and precious metal processing
facility of the Group is considered normal and consistent
with our production and turnover levels.

Water Consumption in total and intensity (KPI A2.2)

Freshwater is sourced from the city’s central supply
network and is mainly used by our precious metal
processing facility for cooling purpose during smelting
of the precious metal. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the aggregate water consumption of the Group
was around 186 tonnes (2019: around 355 tonnes),
representing a decrease of around 49% against the year
2019, as result of the decrease in business turnover
especially in the precious metal sector. The water
consumption intensity was around 42.7 tonnes per million
HKD revenue.
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Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved (KPIl A2.3)

Driven by electricity conservation and cost-saving
incentives, the Group has implemented measures and
initiatives to encourage employees to avoid unnecessary
energy consumption. The Group have reminded our staff
to turn off electrical appliances especially computers
when not in use, to set the offices’ room temperature to
24°C and to use natural ventilation whenever possible.
The Group has purchased energy-efficient appliances
and has installed LED light in our office. Discrete electric
meters are also installed for monitoring the electricity
consumption of strategic processes in our precious metal
processing facility.

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved (KPI A2.4)

The existing supply of water resources is sufficient to
satisfy the Group’s needs in all aspects of volume, quality
and supply reliability. With the help of new discrete water
meters, the Group is able to better monitor water usage
to facilitate to identify more effective measures.

Packaging Materials for Finished Products in tonnes
(KPI A2.5)

Packaging materials do not constitute a major issue to
the Group given our product is mainly silver which does
not warrant fancy components. Main packaging materials
of the Group comprise wooden boxes, paper and plastic
bags. For the year ended 31 December 2020, during
the period no packaging material was consumed (2019:
around 2.87 tonnes), due to no precious metal processing
operations under the affect of global economic situation
and COVID-19 pandemic during the reporting period.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Policies on minimizing the Group’s significant
impact on the environment and natural resources
The Group is committed to, on an ongoing pace,
minimizing impacts on the environment and natural
resources within our limits and abilities. Areas in new
technology advancement and process efficiency on
minimizing the impact on the environment and natural
resources are looked into from time to time to integrate
into our production activities and business goals. General
staff education is also our measures considered effective.

Description of significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them (KPIl A3.1)

The Group is an enterprise engaged in the trading of
precious metals in Hong Kong and operates a precious
metal processing facility in Kwai Chung. Silver scrap
which acquired is further processed into finished silver
products of various sizes, forms and shapes complying
with requirements of the clients.

Our precious metal processing facility involves usage of
water and electricity which may have some impact on
the environment and natural resources. The other office
locations are immaterial. The Group will endeavour to
make all efforts possible and practicable to reduce and
minimize the impact on the environment and resources
by adopting and implementing measures to recycle, reuse
and reduce the consumption of water and electricity.
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BHE_Z_FF+_F=+—H
EE AERRBEREBEENIE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
environmental KPIs of the Group were as follows:

50

R

Environmental KPIs Unit 2020 2019
RIS A RISIE B il —EZEF —E—NF
Greenhouse Gas Emissions?
i = m AR ke
Scope 18 tonnes CO2-e 9.99 -
#E—° NP —_FEHREE
Scope 24 tonnes CO2-e 15.85 32.41
HE NPE_FEHEE
Scope 3° tonnes CO2-e 1.63 -
FHE=S RBE_EtiRES
Total tonnes CO2-e 27.47 32.41
me RF_FEHREE
Intensity tonnes COz2-e/million 6.45 0.17
HKD revenue
BE RP_FERES
BEEITWA
Wastes Production
BEMEE
Office Paper tonnes 0.32 0.25
WA AR NI
Intensity tonnes/million HKD 0.075 0.001
revenue
BE AME/ BEBTHA
Wastewater Discharge
BE 7k HERR
Total® tonnes 186 361
Hase N
Intensity tonnes/million HKD 42.7 1.71
revenue
BE AME/ BEBTHA
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Environmental KPls Unit 2020 2019
RIS A RISIE B il —T-FF —Z—NF
Resource Consumption
BIRHE
Energy Consumption kWh 61,995 57,9127
RERHFER TR
Intensity kWh/million HKD 14,553 274.20
revenue
SR FTRE
BRABTWA
Water Consumption?® tonnes 186 355.00
KIHFERS AN
Intensity tonnes/million HKD 42.7 1.81
revenue
HEE AME/ BEBTHA
Packaging Material Consumption
BRYEHEE
— Paper tonnes - 0.40
—#L48 NUE
— Plastic tonnes - -
— BB NI
- Wood tonnes - 2.47
— K48 YN
Total tonnes - 2.87
e N
Intensity tonnes/million HKD - 0.01
revenue
BE AME/ BEBITHA
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Restatement of figures for consistent comparisons

The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is made reference to the
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong published by the Environmental Protection Department, and
the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

Scope 1 covers the direct emission from the business operations owned
or controlled by the Group, majorly from vehicles during the year.

Scope 2 covers the “indirect energy” emissions from electricity, heat and
refrigeration consumed within the Group. The relevant emission factors
refer to the sustainability reports issued by CLP Power and Hongkong
Electric Power Investment, and the “2017 Regional Emission Reduction
Project China Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factors” issued by the
Climate Change Department of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the PRC.

Scope 3 covers the indirect emissions from outside the Group, the
GHG emitted during the processing of waste, freshwater and sewage
is recorded in the reporting period. The relevant emission factors refer
to the sustainability reports of Drainage Services Department and Water
Services Department 2018/19 and HKEx “How to prepare an ESG Report
— appendix 2 Reporting Guidelines on Environmental KPIs”

Wastewater discharge covers daily usage of freshwater water. No
chemical waste was discharge in wastewater in the reporting period.

Electricity consumption in 2019 covers data of metal processing facility
and offices in Hong Kong.

Water consumption only covers the data of metal processing facility. Water
consumption in offices was shared with other tenants, thus the actual data
was not available.
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(B) SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Employment and Labor Practices
B1. Employment

@)

(b)

Policy

The Group takes all measures to ensure that our
statutory duties and responsibilities as an employer
duly comply within our operating locations. The
Group adopts a serious view and attaches great
importance to complying with all the labour laws on
employment, employee compensation etc. which
are applicable to our office operating locations.

In this connection, the Group has formulated
policies and regulations on employment and other
labour welfare and protection matters which include
but not limited to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits.

The Group also strives to provide equal
opportunity for our staff in recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits and is dedicated to
establish and promote a fair, harmonious and
respectful workplace.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group

The Group provides and maintains employment
welfare and benefits for our staff, including but
not limited to mandatory provident fund, medical
insurance and work injury insurance. Staff are
entitled to paid leave on public holidays and
personal occasions like wedding and maternity.

Terms and employment conditions of all employees
are entered into written contracts signed by the
employee and a representative of the Group.

Office staff work 8.5 hours per weekday. Staffs
working in the processing facility work 9 hours on
weekdays.
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The Group is committed to creating a fair
employment environment with equal opportunity. All
applications for vacancies, transfers and promotions
will receive fair consideration with regardless of age,
race, colour, religion, gender, sexual orientation,
disability or other discriminating basis. The Group
seek to provide a fair playing field for all employees.

The Group has established qualifications and
requirements for each job. Processing for
recruitment or promotion is carried out by the
human resources department in an open and
transparent manner.

To enhance employee cohesion and foster
morale and productivity, it is the culture of the
Group to hold gatherings for all employees on
various festivals like Mid-Autumn, Winter Solstice,
Christmas and Annual Dinner every year.

Employee remunerations are determined with
reference to the prevailing market level as well as
the competency, qualification and experience of the
individual employee. Salary payment will be credited
to the bank account of the employee within the last
working day of the month.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
is straightly in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in this regard, including but not limited
to Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Labour Law of the PRC.
The Group has received no complaints, warnings,
litigations or fine from the law enforcing agents or
the staff during the reporting period, same as the
year 2019.
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B2. Health and Safety

@)

®)

Policy

The Group is committed to complying with all the
health and safety statutory requirements applicable
to us to safeguard the health and safety of our
employees. All employees are required to strictly
observe our health and safety policies and work
procedures.

In accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, the Group has taken out employee
compensations insurance for all qualified
employees.

In case of accidents, employees are required to
notify their superior. Regardless of whether the
accident is minor or serious, the superior should
take appropriate measures to mitigate the impact
and avoid any further recurrence or damage.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group

Our precious metal processing facility is the
operation which may give rise to the potential of
causing significant impact on health and safety. The
Group is always mindful of this risk and has given
great attention to the metal processing operation.
The Group ensure that the operation is safe and
without risk to our property and people as far
as practicable by complying with all laws, rules,
regulations and standards in Hong Kong. It includes
but not limited to on-site medical and emergency
facilities, all relevant required medical and safety
equipment. For the year ended 31 December
2020, our precious metal processing facility passed
all relevant government inspections with regard
to means of escape and fire safety, plants and
equipment and there was no accident reported,
same as the year 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
is straightly in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in this regard, including but not limited to
the Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance
(Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter
509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Occupiers
Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

B3. Development and Training

Policy on improving employee knowledge and skills
Employees are encouraged to formulate their own training
objectives that will equip themselves with the skills and
knowledge necessary for their jobs.

B4.

Labor Standards

@)

Policy

The Group adopts the applicable statutory standard
as its minimum standard on labour protection and
welfare. The Group is committed to ensuring its
stringent compliance. In addition, the Group adopts
a serious view and attaches great importance to the
compliance of statutory duties and obligations as an
employer.

The Group is adamant in banning and prohibiting
the employment of child labour, illegal workers
and forced labour and is achieved through the
recruitment and employment processes at source
by the human resources department. The human
resources department has been fully charged with
the statutory duties and is being oversighted by
the senior levels with constant reviews at periodic
intervals.

All job applicants are required to submit their
credentials like academic qualifications, professional
skill certificates, references, and identity card for
verification and record purpose during recruitment.
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The Group strictly abides by the government laws
in labour protection and welfare to ensure employee
health, safety and welfare during their employment.
Salaries, benefits, compensation payments and
insurances are paid on time strictly laws within the
prescribed statutory period.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group

The Group strictly regulates and supervises the
recruitment process, performs the responsibilities
of supervision and management and as far as
possible to prevent any breach of relevant laws and
regulations on the employment of illegal or forced
child labour, etc.

Measures and steps are established and taken to
examine and verify the personal information of the
applicants in the recruitment process in accordance
with the statutory employment requirements in an
effort to eliminate any potential non-compliance.
In addition, other technical skills or academic
credentials required of a job are also checked and
examined.

The Group strictly complies with the relevant
requirements of Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for its Hong Kong
operations, and the Labour Law of the PRC with
regard to its PRC operations. Various statutory
provisions on labour protection, safety and health
are closely monitored and duly complied with.
Employee remuneration, compensation and welfare
are duly paid on time in accordance with the
statutory time limit.

The Group is committed to discharging our
obligations as a responsible employer. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, and in fact, since the
establishment of the Group, we have complied
fully with these employment provisions and have
honoured all of its obligations towards staff and no
labour disputes or litigations were reported for the
year, same as the year 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
is straightly in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in this regard.

Operation Practices
B5. Supply Chain Management

(@)

Policies

In our supply chain management, the Groups
primarily looks for factors like fit for purpose,
cost-effectiveness, supply reliability and quality
assurance. Where necessary and appropriate,
considerations on the impact on the environment
and social risks are also taken into consideration.

Our purchases include various types of precious
metals, such as gold, silver and tin. The Group
purchases silver scrap as raw materials for
processing into finished silver products. Raw silver
is also purchased for processing into different sizes
and shapes to meet customer needs.

Given the nature of operation of our representative
business of silver processing, the raw materials
i.e. silver scrap or raw silver, are rather unique in
nature and constant in composition depending on
the source. Silver scrap has, in general, a relatively
wider and varied composition than raw silver. Our
silver scrap suppliers are mainly precious metal
trading companies in Hong Kong. The Group
reckons there are only minimal implications, if any,
on environmental and social risks arising from
supply chain management.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, all our silver
scrap is sourced from local suppliers in Hong Kong.
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Practices

To ensure a stable, quality assured and cost-
efficient and well-managed supply chain, the
Group has issued and implemented a clear
procurement managements rules and guidelines
containing policies and procedures with respect to
procurement including quality control, warehousing,
payment and documentation approval process, and
methods of payment.

Our purchases are however not driven by confirmed
customer orders. In order to ensure a sufficient
supply of silver products to our customers, the
Group purchases silver raw materials from time
to time to maintain a target inventory level. The
Group’s relationships with its suppliers are stable
and the Group did not experience any major
difficulty in obtaining adequate supplies of raw
materials to meet its production requirements in the
past.

Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier's
continuous ability to guarantee satisfactory product
quantity and quality, reasonable price and timely
delivery. When selecting suppliers, the Group
requires potential suppliers to provide relevant
certifications/documents and to arrange for site
visits.

We continue to support local industry and, for the
year ended 31 December 2020, all our suppliers
were local suppliers in Hong Kong.

B6. Product Responsibility

(@)

Policy

Recommended by the ESG Reporting Guide, with
reference to the Group’s business, there are 4 major
areas on product responsibility which would have
an impact on our businesses. They are (i) product
quality and labelling; (ii) customer services and
complaints handling; (iii) intellectual property rights;
and (iv) privacy. The Group does not have significant
advertising activities, therefore, we consider that
the matters relating to advertising do not have
significant impacts on us.
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We are committed to providing high-quality
silver products as the quality and consistency of
our products are critical to our reputation and
marketability. The Group takes all reasonable steps
to ensure that our products are safe and not harmful
to customers and that the products meet with all
agreed or legally required standards.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group

(i)

Products Quality and Labelling

Our products include various types of precious
metals. In the year ended 31 December
2020, our products comprise mainly silver
and gold. Silver is our principal product. Due
to the nature of metals, our products have a
relatively long life cycle and we do not expect
to have any product returns and warranty
problems and there is no such requirement for
a policy. However, as the Group is committed
to providing high-quality silver products as the
quality and consistency of our products are
critical to our ability to retain our customers
and attract new customers, we have invested
on a new testing laboratory and the acquisition
of related equipment and machinery in our
precious metal processing facility so to
enhance the efficiency of the precious metal
fineness testing. Also, our product quality
controllers regularly inspect silver goods
coming off our processing lines to ensure
that they are compliant with both internal and
external quality assurance codes with respect
to fineness etc.

®)

AREREER—HMHI
MNBERTSEERE
2 BMARNRRESEE
HIREm - AEBE XA
BEEN URRHMANE
MEERTERERELS
TORERNGREHER
ERRERE

BFHAEFEEAZLEL

Vizl Y s

() EREEkER
KM ERBELE
EEE-BHE_T_F
F+-RB=+—H1
FE CBMNERTE
BiIEREREEHIR
EHRMANETEESRH
REBRMEE HMH
EREEHEREYN
4B EE IMITEEA
BEMNEREE RRF
ERIE > B & E B
RZEBRAM > AR
EREESk—24tH
HMmBEL KRS
MEEPNENEMRE
B RERARHRIEMH
SEENHIRESR
HMPERESENT
REHFIBAERE
EFHKRERBEHER
HEREEE LUIRAS
B BRI E I
S BRMNEREER
A B 7 A 1% B F M
MIMTHEEENAIR
Ef URRERESE
HeaRIERIBEE

R

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Furthermore, in Hong Kong, for silver, apart
from the Trade Description Ordinance (Chapter
362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“TDO”),
there is no law or regulation which specifically
governs the purity and fineness of silver.
Nevertheless, the Good Delivery Rules of the
London Bullion Market Association (‘LBMA”)
provide for a set of specifications for silver,
including purity and fineness. The minimum
acceptable fineness of good delivery silver bar
is 999.0 parts per thousand silver, meaning
a purity of 99.90%. Such certification is not
obligatory nor a legal requirement in Hong
Kong. The purity specified in most of our sale
contracts is 99.99%, which is higher than such
certification.

For gold, Section 3 of the TDO regulates trade
description in relation to fineness of gold.
As to certification, similar to silver, LBMA
provides for industry benchmark for fineness
and purity of gold under its Good Delivery
Rules. The minimum acceptable fineness of
Good Delivery Gold Bar is 995.0 parts per
thousand of fine gold, meaning a purity of
99.5%. Such certification is not compulsory
nor is it a legal requirement in Hong Kong.
The purity specified in most of our sale
contracts is 99.99%, which is higher than such
certification.
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(i

(ii)

(iv)

Customer Service sand Complaints handling

As described above, through a strict production
control purpose, we guarantee our products have
and will meet all the legal and trade standards. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did
not have any return or complaints on the quality of
our products, same as the year 2019.

Intellectual Property Rights

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group did not have any intellectual property rights
infringement case against us, same as the year
2019.

Privacy

The Group maintains internal employee data,
supplier data and customer data for its operations.
The information is extremely sensitive and important,
and by law must be safeguarded. To safeguard
the security and confidentiality of the Group’s
data and information in its database, the Group
has implemented the following internal control
procedures:

° Access to documents and data: restrict
access to information and the database on
a strictly need-to-know basis by maintaining
policies specifying the access levels and
extents of documentation required in its
key business activities. Approval from the
management shall be obtained before the
release of documents;
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(i)

(iv)
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o Storage of electronic data: there are backup
policies for each department in order to
safeguard the information in any unexpected
situation; and

o Physical security of the environment: the
Group implements passcode controls in
certain working areas of the offices where
access is limited to supervisory employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there was
no information leakage or privacy cases against us,
same as the year 2019.

B7. Anti-corruption

@)

BIRERBRAR | Z2-F

Policy

The Group recognizes the importance of the value
of honesty, integrity and fairness of our employees
and in our business activities. Our internal control
system emphasis clearly and explicitly the need
for such values and their importance in policies
and processes on sales, procurement, operations,
database control and finance, and the adoption
of a high standard, especially on the senior
management. We have a zero-tolerance policy
on bribery and corruption in any form or at any
level in association with any aspect of the Group’s
activities. These policies encourage all employees to
discharge their duties with integrity and comply with
relevant laws and regulations. The internal control
department is responsible for counter-checking and
following up any remedial actions.
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(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the Group

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not have any bribery or corruption cases
reported and it is straightly in compliance with all
the relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
of Hong Kong (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), same as the year 2019.

B8. Community Investment
We believe that corporates should utilize their influence
in the community to promote harmony and strengthen
the community connections. The Group encourages
and supports employees and their family members to
participate in charity, volunteering, cultural, sports and
educational services and activities.
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The Board presents its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are provision of
education management services in the PRC Mainland, trading of
precious metal and commodity forward contracts, and provision of
money lending services in Hong Kong. The principal activities and
other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at the date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 231.

The Board do not recommend the payment of dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

Review of business and performance

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the outlook
of Company’s business can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 14 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s performance may be directly or indirectly affected
by risks and uncertainties relating to the Group’s businesses. The
followings are the principal risk factors facing the Company as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and are those that could
result in the Group’s business performance, financial condition,
operations results or development prospects materially different from
expected or historical results.
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Competition

In view of the current social and economic challenges still
encountered in the PRC Mainland and globally, under the
circumstances that the COVID-19 pandemic in the global
has not yet been controlled, the significant fluctuation in
commodity prices and the pessimistic medium-term outlook
causing market competition as the Group’s foremost risk.
The market price declines would lead to a severe drag on
the precious metal supply and so our financial performance.
Under a reduction in the global market size and the shrinkage
of the Hong Kong market, the Group operates in a competitive
environment. The operating result of the Group may be
impacted due to the market constraint. The Group aims
to mitigate this risk by maintaining close relationships with
our customers, seeking to expand our customer base and
providing differentiating services. Also, exploring more new
sectors of business can minimize the impact on reliance of
precious metal trading business of the Group.

Supply of Precious metal materials

We are dependent on the continuous supply of material from a
few suppliers. Any shortage or delay in the supply of precious
metal materials and precious metal products from them, any
deterioration in our relationships with these suppliers or any
change in their existing marketing strategies may affect our
ability to fulfill our customers’ demand, resulting in adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. In order
to maintain sufficient supply of precious metal materials, the
Group makes great effort to establish good relationship with
more suppliers to secure potential alternative sources of
precious metal supply.

Customer base

Our five largest customers accounted for a significant portion
of our revenue. If any of them were to substantially reduce the
volume and/or the value of the orders it places with us or were
to terminate its business relationship with us entirely, our profit
level may be adversely affected. In management of such risk,
the Group continues to implement its strategies to develop
and enlarge its market share, and strives to explore potential
customers to reduce its dependency on specific clients.
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Operational risk

The Group is exposed to risks of unexpected losses
attributable to human error, systems failures, frauds, or
inadequate internal controls. Responsibility for managing
operational risks basically rests with every function at
departmental levels. The staff is guided by procedure manuals,
limits of authority and reporting framework to carry out the
duties. We identify and assess key operational exposures
continuously and regularly so that appropriate response can
be taken. We aim to mitigate operational risks through proper
policies and procedures, segregation of duties, and timely
and accurate management reports. We review and update the
policies and procedures from time to time so as to maintain a
strong and discipline control environment.

Health and safety

The Group, especially our processing facilities, may be subject
to various risks such as industrial accidents, equipment failure
and other catastrophic events, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects. The Group has developed
health and safety procedures to clearly define roles and
responsibilities in order to identify and mitigate risk. The Group
has no health and safety incidents or reportable accidents
during the year. In addition, the Group arranges insurance
policies to cover the losses or liabilities of such risks.
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Certificates and approvals

The Group requires certain certificates, licences and permits
and approvals for the operation, such as registration as a
chemical waste producer under the Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of
Hong Kong), licence for discharge of industrial effluent pursuant
to section 20 of the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), certificate of fitness for a
pressure vessel pursuant to Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong Kong), lifting
appliances certificate of results of thorough examination
in the preceding twelve months pursuant to the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings (Lifting Appliances and Lifting
Gear) Regulations (Chapter 59J of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and money lenders license pursuant to the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We must
comply with the relevant standards, laws and regulations
and as well as restrictions and conditions, imposed by the
governmental authorities on application and renewal. The
Group must also comply with new standards, laws and
regulations that may entail greater or lesser costs and delays.
New laws and regulations, amendments to existing laws
and regulations, or more stringent enforcement would have
adverse impacts on the Group’s result of operations and
financial position. If we fail to comply with any of the relevant
regulations, we may not be able to maintain our certificates and
approvals and our operations would be significantly disrupted
or even suspended. The Group commits to comply with the
laws and regulatory requirements applicable to our operations.
We ensure full compliance through close monitoring of
legislative requirements and, when needed, engagement with
professional advisers.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
to adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction.

Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in the Group’s
office and workshop. Such initiatives include replacement of the
new LED lighting for reducing electricity consumption in the office,
promoting double-sided printing and copying, and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance.
The Group also encourages using office equipment carrying Energy
Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
SO as to save energy in the office.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time
and will implement further ecofriendly measures and practices
closely adhering to the 3Rs — Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in
particular, those have a significant impact on the Group. The
Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to review and monitor
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. During the year, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable
assets and thus we provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. The management reviews
annually the remuneration to employees of the Group.

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers
and customers. The Group aims at delivering high quality services
to its customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing
communication and commitment between the Group and its
suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 232.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUE
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has not issued
any debenture.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2014 (the
“Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may,
subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, at its discretion, grant options to any full-
time or part-time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Group,
and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers,
who in the absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward for
Eligible Participants for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Group.
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Up to the date of 2019 Annual Report, the Company has granted
39,310,000 shares of the Company under the Scheme. The Board
proposes to seek approval of the shareholders by the passing of an
ordinary resolution for the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.
The refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit was approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020.
After the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number
of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company available for issue under
the Scheme was 57,617,000 Shares, representing 8.34% of total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this report.

The Board shall not grant options to any Eligible Participant if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued to that participant on exercise of his
options during any 12-month period up to the offer date exceeding
1% of the total number of Shares then in issue.

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board
to each grantee, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years commencing on the date upon which the vesting period as
described in the respective grantee’s offer document commences.

A remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option should be submitted to the
Company on or before the last day for acceptance. The option will
be offered for acceptance for a period of 14 days from the date on
which the option is granted.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board but in any event
shall be at least the highest of (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’ s daily quotations sheet on
the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”); and (ii) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.
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The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period commencing
from the date on which the Scheme was conditionally adopted by
an ordinary resolution of the shareholder of the Company on 22
July 2014 and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing
of the Company’s shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 4
August 2014 (both dates inclusive), after which no further option
will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect in all other respects to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or
otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Scheme and options granted prior thereto but not yet exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
Scheme. The remaining life of the Scheme as at 31 December 2020
was about 3.6 years.

A summary of the share options granted under the Scheme are as
follows:

ZAERE_E-—NELtAZ+ "1 B
SAEBBAADRREBRAZREARMH
MZBEERARATRMNBRZFFGEM L™
B —Z—mE N\BOAEsw+BEFHRE
(BEEEMA) ANREN HEHTE
R EAERSNFE IR 1 - W X 5T 8 B IR SXAEFR
BEHMAENE T AREN UL Z
HARR AT IR B AT MR X AT BE R E < Hth 75
ANREZEMBRER FT6E DUIRIRZH
RARLERETEZBRESEBAN
KRAIRIEZET BT AN T F
TR =+ —BZHERHRA3.65F-

ZEE BT RHZBRESZNT -

Number of share options and underlying shares

BRERERRMUE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
Type of price per  Exercise as at as at
participants Date of grant share  period 1.1.2020 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  31.12.2020
i :§:$é
k- -3 +ZH
‘ -A-A =+
SHEER RYAN ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% TR Ie R AT [B3idd BT B BAM  HFRT
HK
AT
Directors 27.8.2019 0.616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note) 13,680,000 - - - (570,000) 13,110,000
EF “F-nENAZTtRH “E-NENAZFLHE
“E-TENRZTAR
(Htzt)
Employees 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 200,000 - - - (40,000) 160,000
(3= “Z-AFMA+H “Z-1E5MA+HEE
—EZREMANA
27.8.2019 0.616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note) 24,000,000 - - - (500,000) 23,500,000
“Z-nENAZTtR “E-NENAZFLHE
“E-TENRZTAR
(Htzt)
Others 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 120,000 - - - - 120,000
Hit “Z-15MA+H “Z-RFMA+AE
L __CESREMAMR o __
38,000,000 - - - (1,110,000) 36,890,000

Note:  The share options granted will vest to the grantees at the date of grant (i.e.
27 August 2019), the first and second anniversary of the date of grant (i.e. 27
August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively) at an average amount, the
share options once vested shall be exercisable on a cumulative basis.

Mzt . ZECRENBEREZENEHBEHE EIZZ—H
FNBI++tH BEBHNE—BERSFZ
BEZEH @A ZZTZFE N \B-+tHEK
TEZ-FENBIZ+tH UFHEEFBEN X
B MERE—CHE JETRBEITE.
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The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 was HK$0.319 per option, amounted to
approximately HK$520,000 in aggregate. It was estimated as at 10
April 2015, being the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model and taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The significant assumptions
and inputs used in the estimation of the fair value are as follows:

Share price at date of grant BEHHBZRE
Exercise price TEE

Volatility A

Risk-free interest rate 1 R B A =
Dividend yield g Bl =
Expected life of option B ETEHA G A

The expected life of the options may not be necessarily indicative of
the exercise pattern that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility of comparable companies
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2019 were HK$0.211, HK$0.212 and
HK$0.213 per option each for three tranches which will be vested on
27 August 2019, 27 August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively,
amounted to approximately HK$7,984,000 in aggregate. The fair
values were estimated as at 27 August 2019, being the date of
grant, using the Binomial Option Pricing Model and taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The significant assumptions and inputs used in the
estimation of the fair value are as follows:

Share price at date of grant REHBZRE
Exercise price T1EE

Volatility RN

Risk-free interest rate 1 [ e ) =1
Dividend yield B m=E

Early exercise multiplier REITHEGH
Expected option life B ETEHAT AR
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Estimation of the value of the share options is subjective and
uncertain as such values are subject to a number of assumptions
and with regard to the limitation of the model. The expected volatility
is based on the historical volatility reflecting the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected early exercise
multiplier is also estimated and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur.

All significant features necessary to be considered for the
measurement of fair values of the share options granted during the
year were incorporated into such measurement.

The closing prices of the shares of the Company immediately before
the share options granted on 10 April 2015 and 27 August 2019
were HK$0.78 and HK$0.60, respectively.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: 37,680,000 share options granted).

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Group recognized employee costs of approximately HK$3.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately
HK$4.0 million) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution in accordance with the provision of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no charitable
contributions was made (2019: approximately HK$0.5 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenues attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers comprised approximately 100% (2019:
approximately 78%) of the Group’s total revenues while the revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately 41%
(2019: approximately 26%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers comprised approximately 100%
(2019: approximately 94%) of the Group’s total purchases while
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was
approximately 78% (2019: approximately 59%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of
shares in issue, had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang
Mr. Fung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhou
Ms. Wu
Ms. Wong
Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian
(Resigned on 6 May 2020)

In accordance with article 69 of the Articles, Mr. Zhou Tianshu and
Ms. Wu Liyan shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The person who has served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year and up to the date of this report are Mr.
Wang, Mr. Fung, Mr. Hon Hang, Mr. Xia Yi and Mr. Chen Lifan. Mr.
Kwan Fai was resigned a director of the subsidiary of the Company
during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal actions against its
Directors and officers of the Group. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) when this report prepared by the Directors is
approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year unless terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other or
otherwise in accordance with the respective service contracts.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to and performance of the Group. The Directors may also
receive options to be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business are set out in the section headed “Competition
and Conflict of Interest” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, there was no contract of significance to
which the Company or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or
any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during
the year ended or as at 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long Positions

EFEHRS

EFRESTHASRRG ERRRG
RE#EZEmRRE

RIEZZEF+__A=+—H EFEhX
/Z}_JZH_I_JTT&}\EE KT o EAAK L E
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e

under the Scheme on 27 August 2019. The details of the grant are

set out in the section headed “Equity-linked Agreements — Share

option scheme” in the Report of the Directors. The particulars of the

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in part (b) below.

Note 2:  The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on
the total number of ordinary shares in issue, being 691,170,000 shares
as at 31 December 2020.
HBIRERERAR | ZSEZEFEFR

f5E2 :

(a) Ordinary shares and underlying ordinary shares of the (a) ZREZZBERREIEHEZER
Company
Number of
underlying
Number of ordinary Approximate
Name of ordinary shares of the percentage of
Directors/chief executives Nature of interests shares held Company held Total shareholding
Rt = YN ERRER
ES /BRTBAEZHS RmttE LER¥E HELTERYE EeHy BaEL
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(f5E1) (fizE2)
Executive Directors:
BiTES:
Mr. Wang Beneficial Owner - 5,700,000 5,700,000 0.82%
IrE BanlEAA
Mr. Fung Beneficial Owner - 5,700,000 5,700,000 0.82%
BkE BanlEAA
Independent Non-Executive
Directors:
BiEHTES:
Mr. Zhou Beneficial Owner - 570,000 570,000 0.08%
BRE BanlEAA
Ms. Wu Beneficial Owner - 570,000 570,000 0.08%
L-3n BanEAA
Ms. Wong Beneficial Owner - 570,000 570,000 0.08%
BYL BanlEAA
Note 1:  These are share options granted by the Company to the Directors st ZERMARRBANRZZ—AENA

“HEtEREBZFHRAESRENE
RE-REFBEHRNEFTRS TRE
#8917 3% — B R e 5t B —§ﬁ°§$ﬁ’:‘

RN R

S5F B E T X (b)EB

HRENBAGOLLEREBETN
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(b)
the Company

Interests in share options relating to ordinary shares of

m

(b) FEZAEEBEREMZIBRIEZE

Number of share options and underlying shares

BRERERRAEE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
price per  Exercise as at as at
Name of Directors Date of grant share  period 1.1.2020 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  31.12.2020
I -k 2
k- Jank 23 +Z8
-A-H =+-H
EEft4 HHAK §Eﬁﬁ% TR WRITE BiEd Bi7fE Bt BAM  HETHE
HK
AT
Mr. Wang 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019-26.8.2022 (Note 2) 5,700,000 - - - - 5,700,000
IRE “Z-NE “Z-NENAZ+ERE
NBZ+tH T ENAZTRH
(M5k2)
Mr. Fung 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019-26.8.2022 (Note 2) 5,700,000 - - - - 5,700,000
BRE ZE-nE “E-nENAZTLHE
NBZ+tH —E_ENAZARH
(Hfzt2)
Mr. Zhou 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note 2) 570,000 - - - - 570,000
BRE 2-NE “Z-NENBZ+ERE
NBZ+tH ZE_ZENAZARH
(Fisko)
Ms. Wu 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note 2) 570,000 - - - - 570,000
gqt 20 Z-NENBZ+tRE
NBZ+tH ZEICENBIHAR
(Bf3k2)
Ms. Wong 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note 2) 570,000 - - - - 570,000
Byt 2-N% Z-NENBZHERE
NBZ+tH ngiiﬁ)\ﬂ Z+5H
(Frst2)
Mr. Lau Yuen Sun 27.8.2019 0616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note 2) 570,000 - - - (570,000) -
Adrian (Note 1)
BRIAEE (31) Z2-hE “2-NENBZFLEE
NBZ+tH “EIZENBZHRH
______________________________ WE)
13,680,000 - - - (570,000) 13,110,000
Note 1:  Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian has resigned as an independent non- fizE1: ZURMAEEER -ZZZZHFEARABRH
executive Director on 6 May 2020. BHEBIUIEHITES -
Note 2:  The share options granted will vest to the Directors at the date of grant Msk2 . ZEEREMNBERERNIZEEE (B

(i.e. 27 August 2019), the first and second anniversary of the date of
grant (i.e. 27 August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively) at an
average amount, the share options once vested shall be exercisable on
a cumulative basis.

“E2-AFNBZ+tH BHBEH
NE—BFERFZBEFEH BIDH%
A = Pty b o = - S
ENBZ+EtH UTHEERBENE
FoMmERE-KRE MRIRRET
figo
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SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2020, no short positions of Directors and
chief executives in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rule.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons/entities (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company as disclosed
above) have interest or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHRS

HE

RIE-ZEF+_RA=+—H HEBEEER
ESTHABRARBDREBEEZERKRA S
BEARBEGEM LT RABS. 46X EL TN E
MU ERTHERRAT RBIFZHKE

FERFRRROREMROZESRRES

RIBE_EBEF+_A=+—H B LXK
BEZARBIESRERBTERABIN LUFA
T BN AN ARG PHESIR
BEERIAEEAEXVEE2KRE3ID 2
B BERATEHEBENERARE
BN IBEES RIS KHI5E33618 AT
BEZEMAERI KB T ¢

Number of Approximate

ordinary shares percentage of

Name Nature of interests held shareholding

R ERIBEAY

%4 M FRr¥s&EREE A7t

(Note)

(hE=3)

Hon Pok Beneficial owner 76,000,000 11.00%
7318 BmEAA

Poon Lai Beneficial owner 55,300,000 8.00%
AR BaEEAA

Fung Ping Tak Beneficial owner 55,000,000 7.96%
BRE BEEAA

Poon Kwan Ho Beneficial owner 46,000,000 6.65%
EE BmEA A

Zhang Bo Beneficial owner 45,000,000 6.51%
SR 18 BaEEAA

Note: The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
total number of ordinary shares in issue, being 691,170,000 shares as at 31
December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests or short positions of any
persons/entities (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2020.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

For the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
management, shareholders or substantial shareholders of the
Company or any of its respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

On 26 November 2020, the Company allotted and issued a total of
115,000,000 fully paid new shares by the way of placing at a price of
HK$0.148 per share.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance policies adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 35.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility
in community affairs, environmental protection and corporate
governance during its business operation in order to achieve its
sustainable development. The Company’ s ESG Report is set out on
pages 36 to 64 of this annual report.

BRI SEESE

BEEFRRAA BEARNTES EEE
RENFTERFRINESENHBRAEE
TECEFE+ "R+ —HIEEERFER
EEMNEXEERBEBR I TEBRRE
(EERGEMLEMHRY) WEMEFYEK
EEETAEMFEEE

BEXBRAERS

HEZZEFF+_A=+—HILEFE &K
%@%Lﬁ%LE AR BHN ST
WRMF20 - BMEIE S X ZBHRGEM L™
FAE TN ETREIFERRRAER S IIE
ERRITBBAERS -

BESHN
REXRNAEFEEARKE BEFEEEE
HAEERBAEMERBOEFT ZEER
THRER -

ME -LEXBEOEATZ LHES

N CE_EEFE+—HB Z+NH > AT LR
EFNRER0148B T EBSECE RE1T
4851115,000,0008% £ B B =R BIFT AR 17 ©

L XFTREE N A AT RETANEA
S MBS HEREE AL A LS
o

TtEEAR
KRBVRMZz T B EEABKRENFE208
EEBEPEERRS

RIE-HEREBRS

FEREXERFEEBETRNIBTESES
HEHMERH RIBERERTEEARNEEML

SEE UEREENAIKEER AAF
ZRIE-HEREAREHNEAFHRFICHE
EE64ER -
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company had maintained the public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who has been appointed as the
auditors of the Company with effect from 6 December 2019 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited.
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was the auditors of the Company during the
period from 25 January 2019 to 6 December 2019 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited. Save as disclosed
above, there has been no change in the Company’s auditors in any
of the preceding three years. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company.

By order of the directors

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited
Wang Wendong

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BIAZEEME S

B st EH A RAE
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LOCO HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Loco
Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 231,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BIAZEEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BBt ER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional PRIEZETEERBERMANZEHEDEE R
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated Bt AP G S BERERITREENSE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were TEoFKfITEB B M iESHERERKLTILT
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial M ERRRIEBILEEE MAGHIEEERE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we EBIEERER

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B EE KAz Bt R EAEEstEE

Expected credit loss of trade and other receivables and loan receivable

EBESREMEKRFIFEUREREFEIBRIEEEA

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated 2REEMERKRMFF18K190
financial statements.

The balances of trade and other receivables and Our procedures included:
loan receivable as at 31 December 2020 were KN EZERFSE
approximately HK$7,708,000 and nil, respectively,
which were material to the consolidated financial ° We have discussed with management on the
statements. The Group has applied the simplified estimation involved in determining the amount of
approach in calculating the expected credit loss expected credit loss allowance regarding the trade
for trade receivables and has applied the general and other receivables and loan receivable.
approach in calculating the expected credit loss for . RMAEEENRIMEHE S R EMEKRRIELL
other receivables and loan receivable. KREWERNTEREEBEBEHSENMS o
R _EEEF+_A=+—H B RHEMEW
MBI EWE B4R D B A 437,708,00078 7T . We tested the working paper files prepared by the
REABT HEEUBRERIDEE . S£ERNE valuation expert engaged by the management to
BESERNRIENEREERERSHRARBILES calculate the expected credit loss and checked the
Fo MR B HMERARERERERNARES information included in the working paper files.
BRI ERA—MRA A . EMEARDEEEZENLEERRRUSTETE
HEEGEN LIRS XM LIRE TIFRES XM
WEk o
° We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation expert engaged by the
management.
. BMTETHEEEZENGEERNA & 4E
AMEEME -

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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B I % B ET RS

Key Audit Matter
FREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZENFEEMEETRIA

Under the simplified approach, the Group
measures the loss allowance based on lifetime
expected credit loss at each reporting date
by individual assessment. Under the general
approach, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month expected credit loss, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition then the Group
will recognize the loss allowance based on the
lifetime expected credit loss at each reporting date
by individual assessment. The assessment of the
expected credit loss allowance requires significant
judgments and estimation by management.
RIBEEIERZE BEERERSHHAREZHAE
HEEEERENTHEEBEEE BE—K
Fi% EEEBI2EBEREEBEEHERE
B IEHEMEEBLUREERRAEEM, &
ERERRNEREEHREXHBEREEHERE
AT FE RN B R - HTRME BB E HN T
EECEBFLEEY B GGt

o We also engaged an independent valuation expert
to assist us to assess the appropriateness of the
expected credit loss provisioning methodology,
examining the key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used
to determine the expected credit losses by the
valuation expert engaged by the management.

. BRPTZEREBIIGEERBHEMTERRAEERS
BREZZEE B MR RS A UGG
HEBRMERTEY TEAETEEZENLESER
ANECEREEEEMERNRE 8FBTR
AIFEME R o

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
about the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade and other receivables and loan receivable in the
consolidated financial statements.

M7 TE SEEMGESMBRRANE Z KEMBEIHR
BUKREWERNERAEESEEEHFLHIEENTE M
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZE s NFEEMEETRIA

Valuation of investments classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

ERFEEBRFDERFE=BIIEMEELNGE

Refer to Notes 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements

The Group’s other financial assets are stated at
fair value. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
other financial assets amounted to HK$5,500,000,
and the fair value loss on other financial assets for
the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
HK$11,786,000.

EEENEMEMEEULATEIEKR - RZE
“EFE+Z-R=+—H> EEENHEMERE
= 75,500,000 0  MB&E_Z_ZF+_H
—t+—HIEFE HttcmEENAFEEES
11,786,000 7t ©

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

25

REMERKRMT45160

Our procedures included:
KMNBEZEREE !

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of the
valuations of other financial assets and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors, such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.
BMTHREEBHHMEHE E G (ER AP ESIA
BRI BiEaE REs T REENEE RHEM
BB REEZORR (FINEMEN - T8 &M
EEEBEREITEBTANHRE) T HEAER
PRILAY E A R

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation expert engaged by the
management.
EMETETHEEEZENGHEERN S B 5E
MEE M-
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Key Audit Matter
FREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZENFEEMEETRIA

We paid significant attention to this area due to
the material balance and fair value loss of the
other financial assets to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and the estimation of the
valuations of other financial assets subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk
in relation to this area is considered significant
due to critical judgment involved in determining
the critical estimates and assumptions used in the
valuations.
EREMEMEENEGRNATEREN 85
EHReMBRRNDEERGGHEHMEMEENG
BERFTREEEMNMGIEES KM LLEHEE
BT T ERBDE o BN TERIE 5 A E A B 8
ST AR R RS R LM RO > L E N E A R
IR B E AN o

o We also engaged an independent valuation expert
to assist us in assessing the appropriateness of
methodologies used and the reasonableness of
the key estimates and assumptions applied in the
valuations. We have also conducted a sensitivity
analysis over the key inputs.

. BPTRERTBILGEEER B RMTEEEER
B8 AR 75 R BV 38 & 1 LUK PR % AR B SR (ST AT R 3 B9
BIEM - RMUSET 7 AR E ABBRSRE D -

° We checked the accuracy and relevance of the input
data used in the valuations.

. BPIEE 7 5T R A RV B A B Y ZE FE 14 A0 A B
Mo

We found the key estimates and assumptions used in the
valuation of other financial assets were supported by the
available evidences. We also assessed the adequacy of
the Group’s disclosures about the valuation of investments
classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy in the
consolidated financial statements.
BEMBERAMEREEGLERERNBARMGHNERREE
THRARBENXZF RMEFLTERGRSUBRRPA
BATEERADEAE=RINEENKEES TG
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

BHAME GEMBRRARENE
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats on safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEHREmk

HttZ2E W= R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
a3 3 —T-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5F FET TAETT
Revenue KA
- Sales of precious metal —IHEEEB 4,247 185,688
- Education management services —HEEERY 6,207 25,201
— Interest income from —REEFEREEEHN
customers and suppliers FEUWA 10 5,706
— Order commission —iTBHE - 19
Total revenue LONL 5 10,464 216,614
Trading losses on commodity EEmRRAGANER
forward contracts (153) (2,871)
Other income H A a5 6 932 280
11,243 214,023
Carrying value of inventories sold EEFEZRAEE (4,138) (183,361)
Change in fair value of commodity EmiEEZ2 AT EES
inventories 53 (1,590)
Depreciation on property, ME - BERREITE
plant and equipment 13 (1,265) (1,356)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  FRAEZETE 14 (2,667) (2,348)
Employee costs BEMA& 7 (21,437) (24,108)
Fair value losses on EMMEmEEZ ATFEEE
other financial assets (11,786) (3,134)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BENRREZER
plant and equipment - (56)
Other operating expenses HM&EH% (9,578) (13,882)
Provision of loss allowance on FHREWERE IR E
loan receivable 19 (4,829) (2,684)
Provision of loss allowance on R E 5 R EMEWRIE
trade and other receivables E5IE B (363) (714)
Rental expenses ﬂﬁﬁEEﬁii (1,204) (390)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate O {h—RIHE AT
mAl, (B518) 90 9)
Finance costs B 7 Bl 2 9 (71) (794)
Loss before income tax expense BRPTISM A Z AR R 10 (45,952) (20,403)
Income tax expense PRSI F 2 11 (785) (5,901)
Loss for the year FERE (46,737) (26,304)

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CEEmkHEMEE KRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FET T
Other comprehensive income Hith2m =
Items that may be reclassified B REBEM P IEEEm L
subsequently to profit or loss: EH:
Exchange differences on MBEBINEBEEZ
translating foreign operations PERE%R 1,309 171
Other comprehensive FEHMZmEUE  NRMRIE
income for the year,
net of tax 1,309 171
Total comprehensive loss FEZmMEIEEE
for the year (45,428) (26,133)
(Loss)/profit for the year UTFTALTEEGEE
attributable to: (518) &%) -
— Owners of the Company S UNCIE TN 12 (46,856) (34,002)
— Non-controlling interests —FRIERR S 31 119 7,698
(46,737) (26,304)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ UTATEGEER@T (EiB)
income for the year itk i
attributable to:
- owners of the Company —ARKRBHEA A (46,171) (33,885)
- non-controlling interests —JEER R 31 743 7,752
(45,428) (26,133)
Loss per share attributable to FRAFATEE AEMN
owners of the Company during SkEsE (BrxkigE)
the year (basic and diluted) 12 (7.98) (6.05)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BN Z B  E 4R A R
Ho

R 2 — 2B

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRARR

As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZFE+_"FB=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEE —E—hE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FHET
Non-current assets ERBMEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREZE 13 2,549 2,985
Right-of-use assets FTHREEE 14 2,312 3,000
Interest in an associate R—EBE B 2 Ea 15 8,081 7,991
Other financial assets HithemEE 16 5,500 17,286
18,442 31,262
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =78 17 277 224
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H i FE W R IE K
prepayments T FRIB 18 7,978 28,090
Loan receivable W E R 19 - 4,829
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 20 28,964 28,724
37,219 61,867
Current liabilities RENEE
Other payables and accruals HMEMRIERESER 21 1,901 2,088
Tax payable FETIRIE 19 4,882
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 1,859 2,280
3,779 9,250
Net current assets TREBEEFRE 33,440 52,617
Total assets less current liabilities BE&ERF RHEE 51,882 83,879
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE
Deferred tax liabilities RILIRIBEE 22 143 -
Lease liabilities HE&RE 14 516 871
659 871
Net assets BEZRE 51,223 83,008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PoSITION

mEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2020 RZZEZZF+"/=+—H
2020 2019
G323 s — N
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Ff 5 FET T

Equity i
Share capital % 2 23 161,112 144,480
Reserves & (113,544) (70,365)

Equity attributable to AT ABLERS

the owners of the Company 47,568 74,115
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 31 3,655 8,893
Total equity MRS 51,223 83,008

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized

MBBRERNR T -_—F=R-+HA%E

o)
for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2021 and signed on ES S A RIEETIEL R FIATRES
E

its behalf by:

Wang Wendong
EXE
Director

EF

Fung Chi Kin

BEE
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BB Z i st M % E k&

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

HEEmEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

Equity-

settled

share-based

Share Merger payment

capital reserve’ re:

serve’

NREEHZ

ki8R

Ry affE iR

Notes HKS000  HK§'000  HKE'000

Equity
attributable
to owners Non-

Statutory  Translation Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
reserve” reserve’ Losses' ~ Company interests equity

L]
BEA

TRERT  REGE  EABR BUEE  FERER gk
HKPOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSD0D  HKS000  HKS$'000

gk TEn TEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TEn TEn TEn TER
(Note 31)
(H5£31)
Asat 1 January 2018 RoE-nE-B-8 122,698 (1.357) 380 - (183 (39308 82430 Y
Loss for the year EEER - - - - SR 0w 7608 (26304
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEMRENE:
Exchange differences on translating BEENBELZERER
foreign operation - - - - "7 - 17 54 171
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREGELR - - - - 117 (34,002) (33,885) 7,752 (26,133
Capital injection by non-controling interest FERERTE - - - - - - - 509 509
Issue of new shares by way of placements NEERTETHEN 2 23,136 - - - - - 23,136 - 23,136
Transaction costs attibutable to issue of shares &R MR B AA 2 (1,554) - - - - - (1,554) - (1,554)
Lapsed share option BRyERE - - 278) - - 218 - - -
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BRNRAEE 2 RN BRI 24 and 27
payments 4R21 - - 4,620 - - - 4,620 - 4,620
Disposal of partial nterests in a subsidiary HUERAEHETHER
ithout loss of control -BHEATNDSES 77 - - (587) - 50 %) 632 632 .
As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZE-AE+ZA=+-H
R-E-EE-E-f 144,480 (1,357) 4,135 - (16) (73,121) 74,115 8,893 83,008
Loss for the year EEER . 5 . 5 - (686 (46850) 9 (6730
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEMRENE:
Exchange differences on translating BEENBELZERER
foreign operation - - - - 685 - 685 624 1,309
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREGELR - - - - 685 46,856) (46,171) 743 (45,428)
Capital injection by non-controling interest FERERTE - - - - - - - 492 492
Issue of new shares by way of placements NEERARATRG 2 17,020 - - - - - 17,020 - 17,020
Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares  ETRHOEEHNTZMA 23 (388) - - - - - (388) - (388)
Dividend paid to non-controling interest of ARBATEEREERRE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (6,473) (6,473)
Transfer of statutory reserve iiﬁﬁ’éﬁ aE - - - 1,647 - (1,647) - - -
Lapsed share option FRIE 10 - - (127) - - 121 - - -
Recognition of equity-settled share-based DMHzZiS ZRPEREA
payments 24 - - 2,992 - - - 2,992 - 2,992
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-%5+ZA=1-A 161,112 (1,357) 7,000 1,647 669 (121,503 47,568 3,655 51,223
1 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately ' ZEHBEREBENGEMBERARANGEEH

HK$113,544,000 (2019: approximately HK$70,365,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Enterprises Operated Exclusively
with Foreign Capital” and the Articles of Association of those subsidiaries of the
Group, which are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC, an appropriation
to the Statutory Reserve from the statutory net profit after offsetting accumulated
losses of previous years should be made prior to profit distribution to the
shareholders. The appropriation for the Reserve Fund is no less than 10%
of the statutory net profit and it can cease to accrue when the accumulated
appropriation exceeds 50% of the registered capital. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the appropriation for the Reserve Fund is 10% (2019: Nil) of the
statutory net profits of the year for the subsidiaries in the PRC.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—E-THF “E-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
[z FETT TR
Cash flows from operating RETHMEENRERE
activities
Loss before income tax FRETISM ATE 18 (45,952) (20,403)
Adjustments for: MTAEHAE .
Amortization of contract costs BRI A - 587
Change in fair value of commodity EREEZAFEEE
inventories (53) 1,590
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZEITE
plant and equipment 13 1,265 1,356
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FREEEITE 14 2,667 2,348
Employee share option expenses BEBRKRERS 24 2,992 4,033
Fair value losses on other HthemBEEZ
financial assets NFEEE 11,786 3,134
Interest income A B A (63) (178)
Interest expenses MBS 71 794
Loss on disposal of property, HEME- -BER
plant and equipment RHEDIEE - 56
Provision of loss allowance on FHR N ERE IR B
loan receivable 19 4,829 2,684
Provision of loss allowance on R E 5 R EME WA
trade and other receivables BIEEE 363 714
Share of (profit)/loss of an DME—EEE AR
associates Cafl) Ei8 (90) 9
Trading losses on commodity SEEmERAANNEE
forward contracts 153 2,871

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

A
=

WERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEH —Z—hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
[z FETT FET
Operating cash flows before EEESEHIMN
changes in working capital REWFERE (22,032) (405)
Decrease in inventories EFERD - 40,158
Decrease/(increase) in trade and 85 K HE MW IE M K
other receivables and EFRIE R, ()
prepayments 20,030 (1,164)
Decrease in other payables and HMMEmIE K E & R
accruals (187) (48,518)
Cash used in operation K EHPTRANIRE (2,189) (9,929)
Income taxes paid BEPER (5,505) (765)
Net cash used in AREEZBFT R
operating activities & PEE (7,694) (10,694)
Cash flows from investing REZIHELENRER=
activities
Interest received BUWF 2 47 163
Investment in an associate R—EBHE 2 KRE - (8,000)
Investments in other financial assets REMESHMEEZBE - (15,420)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME HBERKE
property, plant and equipment FriS=Ia = 2
Purchases of property, BEYE -BERRE
plant and equipment 13 (789) (3,158)
Net cash used REZBFTARE B
in investing activities (742) (26,413)

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—EZEF “E-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
[z FETT TR
Cash flows from financing MEEMEENRERE
activities
Capital injected into a subsidiary by — JEIERE R B — B E A S
non-controlling interest AE 492 509
Dividend paid to non-controlling A B AR IFERER
interest of subsidiaries ZRE 31 (6,473) -
Interest element of lease BENEE MR EE D
payment paid 9 (71) (113)
Interest paid [=ENERSS - (681)
Issuance cost attributable to BEITRERMMEEN
issue of placing shares BT A 23 (388) (1,554)
Proceeds from issue of new shares WU E 5 1T RN
by way of placements Fri8sRIE 23 17,020 23,136
Proceeds from loans from related kBREEAB ZEMRFAERIA
companies - 39,577
Repayments of borrowings BEEN = (4,100)
Repayments of capital element of HENRERIBIBIER
lease payment (2,751) (2,384)
Repayments of loans from related BIERBHEELSZER
companies - (66,772)
Repayments to related companies AAEABEN = (4,173)
Net cash generated from/ HETHEL
(used in) financing activities (FFB)H 3R & 7B 5E 7,829 (16,555)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS
EEHEMER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E-Z"ZF+"A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—E-THF “E-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
[z FETT TR
Net decrease in cash and BERELZEEYHLFEE
cash equivalents (607) (63,662)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERAEEEY
beginning of the year 28,724 82,288
Effect of foreign exchange rate 4R BE BB Y e &
changes 847 98
Cash and cash equivalents FREERREEEY
at end of the year 28,964 28,724
Analysis of the balances of cash RERFAELEMLEGR DR
and cash equivalents
Cash at banks and on hand RITARFERSE 20 28,964 28,724

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 5 August
2014. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business are Unit 401, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton
Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) is
principally engaged in provision of education management
services in mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC Mainland”), trading of precious metal and commodity
forward contracts, and provision of money lending services in
Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
25 March 2021.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622 (“CO”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

—REH
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FrBERAT (TEk3ZER)) GEM L1 o 5E
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o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
[7177 O = |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
inventories and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
(“HKFRS 27), leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable
value in HKAS 2 “/nventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

=

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note
4.

Changes in accounting policies

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following new and
revised standards and amendments for the first time
in the current year:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark

HKFRS 9, HKAS Reform
39 and HKFRS 7

2.

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.1

2.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R

e MBBRRNE

==

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

(i)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (continued)

The application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
and the related
Amendments'’

Amendments to Covid-19 Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions*
Amendments to Reference to the
HKFRS 3 Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture®

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current’

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that

have been issued but are not yet effective:
(continued)

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost

HKAS 37 of Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Intra-company transactions, balances, cash flows
and unrealized gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in full. Unrealized
losses resulting from Intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investment in an associate is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method of accounting (Note 2.3(c)), after
initially being recognized at cost.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when significant
influence is lost is recognized at fair value and
this amount is regarded at the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c)

Equity method

Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the
associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment. Any acquisition date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognized
in the profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognized in the
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate is recognized as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Equity method (continued)

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the investee, except where unrealized losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognized
immediately in profit or loss. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.8.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognized in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(d) Changes in ownership interests (continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers,
who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that make strategic decisions.

2.6

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”).

The functional currency of the Company and some
subsidiaries is United States dollar (“US$”). The
functional currency of the subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC Mainland is Renminbi (‘RMB”). However,
the financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”) instead of its functional currency as
the directors of the Company consider that HK$ is a
more appropriate presentation currency in view of its
principal place of financing activities.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognized in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the profit or loss on a net basis.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are recognized in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are recognized
in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the reporting
date;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (continued)

o income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognized in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Partial disposal of foreign operation

On partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and is not
recognized in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment

EXEHBERBE (@

2.7 YME -BEREE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any). Historical cost includes its
purchase price and the expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognized when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Over the shorter of
3 years and the

Leasehold improvements

remaining
lease terms
Equipment and computer 4 years
software
Furniture and fixture 4 years
Motor vehicle 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are
sold, it is the Group’s policy to transfer any amounts
included in other reserves in respect of those assets to
accumulated losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognized on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date or settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.10.1 Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories, which depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows:

o those to be measured at amortized cost;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2, EBEXEHHEHRE (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of

210 £#fIT A #&)
2101 2HEE (&)
THEESERAEE

financial assets (continued) (#)

e those to be measured at FVTOCI; and e EBRFEFAHMZ
ARG ENSHE
B &

o those to be measured at FVTPL.

The Group determines the classification of debt
investments according to its business model and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. The debt investments shall be
classified as FVTPL if the cash flows characteristics
cannot pass the test on solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount (“SPPI”).
Otherwise, the classification of debt investments
will depend on the business model provided the fair
value option is not elected. Investments in equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL in general,
except for those designated as at FVTOCI.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortized cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except for those at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”). Initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” (“HKFRS 3”) applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortized cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortized cost
and debt instruments. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognized by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognized by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
(b)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are

measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognized
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss is

recognized in profit or loss.

(c)  Equity instrument

Investments in debt and equity securities
are recognized/derecognized on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at FVTPL for which transaction costs
are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines the
fair value of financial instruments is set out in

Note 3.3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(©

Equity instrument (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVTPL unless the equity investment is
not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are
recognized in profit or loss as other income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, loan
receivable and bank balances which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity securities measured at FVTPL and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment is done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXGHBEHME (&
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

210 £#fIT A #&)
2101 2HEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For trade receivables from contracts with customers,
the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL without significant
financing component at each reporting date. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognizes
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognized is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(@)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2, EBEXEHHEHRE (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued) 2,10 £€fRIT A (&)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued) 2101 2HEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEERE (&)
(a)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (a) EERPBBARELF
#
In particular, the following information is taken RAl2 TEEEER
into account when assessing whether credit fER A EFER K
risk has increased significantly: EERGERBUTER:
e an actual or expected significant e SR IANR

deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(©

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognized in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on the historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)
2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(e)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continueq)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contracts and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis
or cater for cases where evidence at the
individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

e Aging of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure that the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost of the financial
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.1 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset, if the
part being considered for derecognition meets
one of the following conditions: (i) the contractual
rights to receive the cash flows from the financial
asset expire; or (i) the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset have been
transferred, the Group transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset; or (iii) the Group retains the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash
flows to the eventual recipient in an agreement that
meets all the conditions of derecognition of transfer
of cash flows (“pass through” requirements) and
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset.

Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety
meets the criteria for derecognition, the difference
between the two amounts below is recognized in
profit or loss:

° the carrying amount of the financial asset
transferred; and

° the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognized directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAGHHEHRE (&
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (continued) 2,10 £€fRIT A (&)

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognized at the
proceeds received, net of direct issued costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognized and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) is
designated as at FVTPL.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.2 Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is
a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost, including
other payables, accruals and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.3

2.104

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of
the hedge relationship.

Fair value on financial instruments

For financial instruments where there is an active
market, the fair value is determined by quoted
prices in active markets. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined by using valuation techniques.
Such techniques should be appropriate in the
circumstances for which sufficient data is available,
and the inputs should be consistent with the
objective of estimating the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the asset or to transfer the liability
would take place between market participants at the
measurement date under current market conditions,
and maximize the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

2.10.4 Fair value on financial instruments (continued)

Such techniques include using recent prices
in arm’s length transactions, reference to the
current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same, discounted cash
flow analysis and/or option pricing models. For
discounted cash flow techniques, estimated
future cash flows are based on management’s
best estimates and the discount rate used is
a market rate for similar instruments. Certain
financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, are valued using pricing models that
consider, among other factors, contractual and
market prices, correlation, time value of money,
credit risk, yield curve volatility factors and/or
prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The
use of different pricing models and assumptions
could produce materially different estimates of fair
values.

Determining whether to classify financial instruments
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is generally
based on the significance of the unobservable
factors involved in valuation methodologies.

2.10.5 Offsetting a financial asset and a financial

liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognized amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. If the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration, it is
classified as a lease.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for shorter leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date which
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, as follows:
Properties Over the lease terms plus
extension option period
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group
recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification (i.e. a change in the lease term (e.g. changes
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAGHHEHRE (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

211 8 (@)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

2.12 Inventories and other contract costs

(i) Inventories

Inventories mainly represent silver and gold
(“Commodity Inventories”) purchased for the
purpose of selling them in the near future. As
a commodity trader, the Group measures its
Commodity Inventories at fair value less costs to
sell. Commodity Inventories are initially recognized
at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
costs to sell. Changes in fair value are recognized in
the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Inventories other than Commodity Inventories are
initially recognized at cost, and subsequently at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost
comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Cost is calculated using
the first-in first-out method. Net realizable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfill a contract with a customer which
are not capitalized as inventory, property, plant and

equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g. an incremental
sales commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalized when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognized in a future
reporting period and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are

expensed when incurred.

Capitalized contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognized to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of () remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not yet

been recognized as expenses.

Amortization of capitalized contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognized. The accounting policy for

revenue recognition is set out in Note 2.21.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Note
18 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.

Loans receivables

Loans receivables are personal loans granted to
customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of loans receivable is expected in one year or less, they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Loans receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

2.16

2.17

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and bank overdrafts (if any).

Other payables

Other payables are classified as current liabilities if the
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.19

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(a)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax

liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and

losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not be

reversed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

4 A
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

2.20 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
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2.20 Bg7s

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net

of tax, from the proceeds.

2.21 Revenue recognition

2.21

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses

a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract.

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract.

° Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised goods or
services to the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value
of money.

Revenue from trading of precious metal and
commodity forward contracts

The Group’s contracts with customers for the trading of
precious metal generally include a performance obligation
and the revenue from it should be recognized at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Revenue from trading of precious metal is mainly arising
from sales of Commodity Inventories (Note 2.12) by
the Group as well as interest income generated from
customers and suppliers. The Group enters into sale and
purchase agreements for Commodity Inventories with
certain customers and suppliers and under the terms
of those agreements, the selling or purchase price of
precious metal is determined based on the market price
of silver on the date subsequent to the delivery date as
specified by the customer or supplier (the “Forward
Arrangements”). Interest is charged to the customers
and suppliers of those agreements during the period of
Forward Arrangements.

Trading gains or losses from commodity forward
contracts mainly comprise the gains or losses arising from
the Forward Arrangements with customers and suppliers
as mentioned above and the gains or losses arising
from the forward contracts entered into with commodity
traders for hedging commodity price risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from provision of education management
services

The Group provides several kinds of education related
services to other parties. Revenue is measured at the
consideration received or receivable for the service
provided. The Group recognizes revenue when it
transfers services to a customer. The services include
providing exclusive management and consulting services
(including amongst others student recruitment services,
management support services and staff training services),
equipment and exclusive technology support services
and financing supporting services to the educational
institution. The Group receives education management
services fees and such fees are recognized as revenue
over the period of the relevant education management
services provided.

Commission income
Commission income is recognized at the point in time
when the control of goods is passed to customers.

2.

EXEHBERBE (@

2.21 AR (@)

rERME EERELIKA

FEEREMARESEHEE
BARTS o AP IR HER BRI B
W WA B E - AEEINE
FEREBERBEEDIA - RF
BREASHERBRERHBREERK
B (BEBERS  BEX
BRFBMETHIRE -rEX
BREMXERBURBE X E
AR5 o REB WIS EERD
B BEREERNREHERAS
EERBHABESDSBUA -

HEKA
BERANERZEREERT
Z R B R REFERD o

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Revenue from provision of money lending services

Apart from interest income earned from the Forward
Arrangements as mentioned above, the Group also
earned interest income from a loan lent to a borrower.
Such interest income is recognized and accrued using
the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of
the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income. Interest income on impaired loan and
receivables are recognized using the original effective
interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognized in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liabilities for long service leave and annual leave
that are not expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service. These
obligations are therefore measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to
the end of the reporting period using the projected
unit credit method. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period
of high-quality corporate bonds with terms and
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements
as a result of experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognized in profit or
loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

Post-employment obligations

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all of its
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employee’s relevant income
and are charged to the profit and loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
if any, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group’s PRC Mainland operations participate
in defined contribution retirement plans managed
by the local municipal government in the locations
in which it operates. The relevant authorities of the
local municipal government in the PRC Mainland
are responsible for the retirement benefit obligations
payable to the Group’s retired employees. The
Group has no obligation for payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contribution. The
contribution payable is charged as an expense to
profit or loss as and when incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Share-based payments arrangements

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
options at the date of grant is recognized in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase
in the share option reserve within equity. Non-market
vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the
number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end
of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative
amount recognized over the vesting period is based
on the number of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the
options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions
are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative
expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market
vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where share options are granted to parties providing
goods or services, the fair value of goods or services
received is recognized in profit or loss unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
A corresponding increase in share option reserve is
recognized.

When the option is exercised, the relevant amount
recognized in the share option reserve is transferred to
share capital. When the option is forfeited, the relevant
amount recognized in the share option reserve is released
directly to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25

2.26

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognized
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.27 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

° by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.28 Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.28 Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

Person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of

which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business
are market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
and practices as described below.

3.1

(a) Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The functional
currencies of the Group’s respective principal
subsidiaries are HK$, US$ and RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

()

Currency risk (continued)

For subsidiaries with HK$ and US$ as their
functional currencies, since most of their
transactions and financial instruments are
denominated in HK$ and US$ and HKS$ is
pegged to USS$, their exposure to foreign
currencies risk is minimal.

For subsidiaries operated in PRC Mainland,
their assets and liabilities are mainly
denominated in RMB except for bank balance
which is denominated in HK$. Accordingly,
bank balance denominated in HK$ is subject
to foreign exchange risk.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates of HK$
against RMB will affect the Group’s result
of operations. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5%, against
HK$ with all other variables held constant,
pre-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$15,000 (2019:
approximately HK$15,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of net foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of HK$
denominated bank balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(1)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The loan receivable and lease
liabilities expose to the fair value interest rate
risk as it is arranged at fixed interest rate.
While bank balances are arranged at variable
which exposed the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The directors of the Company
considered the exposure to interest rate risk
in relation to bank balances are insignificant
due to the low level of bank interest rate.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis for interest
rate risk is presented.

The Group manages interest rate risk by
monitoring its interest rate profile. The Group
conducts periodical review to determine
preferred interest rates mix appropriate for the
business profile. The Group has not used any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its financial assets measured at
FVTPL.

(1)

(i)

MBRMERE (&
MBEAKRER (&
(a) AL (B

eSS
MEEBETEERT
Bz AFEHEREER
ERTHAERESHM
KB 7 B AR - B
ERMKEEEARHER
AFEFRERE TR
HREEF KRR &
HBAM KRG BVIRTT
B EEmER
TREBFRER AR
AEFERLEEAR
RITHE R 2 X E
H R 1T A R BAR T A
BEXR-HIL  WEE
SIF KA E D
#fr

rEBREBERER
X REBEANEXR
B2 o AEBET EHR
NUEBEEBGESM
MZBRFKBEG K
SR EFRBEMAA
RigH P HERZ
AIESET

@i mm
o4 9 7 O O
AT AR AR
ENSRAENRS
ELETE

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zﬁ P
17177 N |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Price risk (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of
investments decrease as a result of changes
in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual investment. The Group is exposed
to equity price risk arising from financial assets
measured at FVTPL.

If prices had been 10% higher/lower, the
Group’s loss before income tax expense
for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$550,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,729,000). This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of financial
assets measured at FVTPL at the end of the
reporting period.

The management will monitor the equity price
risk and take appropriate actions should the
need arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

SRR RN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from other financial assets,
trade and other receivables, loan receivable and
bank balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure
to perform their obligations as at the end of the
reporting date in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The credit risk of bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating

agencies.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables and loan receivable.
In order to minimize the credit risk, the Group
has applied the simplified and general approach
under HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL or 12m ECL. The Group considers the
probability of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
the reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking

information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

MBRMERE (&
3.1 MBAREER (&
(b) FEAER (#

The Group uses four categories for those
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are
aligned to external credit ratings.

The following table shows the Group’s credit risk
grading framework:

AEBHEBWRIERA T
B RREEERE > X
R 90 fe) B RE &5 KR Bl BY 5 98 4
o & F MBS B AT 4R
ELSNEBIS B ETARAETT ©

TRITAEBNEERR
STARAEZR !

Basis for recognition of ECL

BHREEBREDNESE

Trade Other financial
Category Group definition of category receivables assets
#5 R ABRER BRREWHRIE HttEREE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition

and that are not credit-impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B4 BAORBRBIBEMERILREERR T REZIEM 2HTRER 1218 5 ¥4
BUYREERENESHEE BAFIBE EEBA B
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase ~ Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit- not credit- not credit-
impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired
2 BRI UREERBBZEN KT REERERN FHITER FHITEH
THEE BAFMER) FEBE- EEBE—
BEEERE BEERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when one or more  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future credit- credit-
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3) impaired impaired
X EE-BEYU R EREEMFRRRSRER T FHITER FHITEH
TENBHR cHEETEALREEAE EEBE- EEBE-
(R F3MER) EERE EEHRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is Amount is
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery written off written off
i3 BRBENEBEALEYREMBRNEEREE ssza i EEE

WESREEREME
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

SRR RN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies individual assessment to
measure the expected credit losses prescribed by

HKFRS 9 as stated in below:

The expected credit loss rates applied in the
individual assessment are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and internal credit rating by
reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit-rating
agencies, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted
economic growth rates in Hong Kong and/or PRC
Mainland, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate) that is available without undue costs or
efforts. Such forward-looking information is used
by the management of the Group to assess both
the current as well as the forecast direction of

conditions at the reporting dates.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure
of credit risk and expected credit losses for trade
and other receivables and loan receivable as at 31
December 2019 and 2020 are set out in Notes 18

and 19.

The Group made no write-off on trade and other
receivables, and loan receivable during the years

ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Concentration of credit risk

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade
and other receivables as there were 2 customers
(2019: 2 customers) which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group’s trade and other
receivables. The aggregate amounts of trade and
other receivables from these customers amounted
to 76.1% of the Group’s total trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 90.3%).
The Group has categorized these customers as
“Performing” and determined its loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group
will not be able to meet its obligations associated
with its financial liabilities and lease liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in
respect of settlement of payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash
from business. The liquidity policy has been followed
by the Group since prior years and is considered to
have been effective in managing liquidity risks.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

MBREAKRERE (&)
3.1 MBAREER (&

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEEZRE (&
The following table below details the remaining TRERGORMIFIRERM
contractual maturities at the reporting date of the ERFTEBREERBRAMRIE
Group's financial liabilities and lease liabilities, which NEFARFAFERESR
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows BEAEEEERKREH
and the earliest date the Group can be required B TENERBR RN
to pay. Balances within 1 year other than lease —FRNEIANER (BEE
liabilities, equal their carrying balances as impact EBRIN) BEE ETEEEETE“D
from discounting is not significant. B RERBMRNEER
o
On demand
or within 1 Between 1 Between
year to2years 2to5years Total
BERN
—FR —EWmF MEERLF et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FETT FAETT FETT
As at 31 December 2020
R-E_EE+-BA=+—8H
Other payables and accruals 1,901 - - 1,901
HMENMIERES &R
Lease liabilities 1,886 518 - 2,404
HESE
3,787 518 - 4,305
As at 31 December 2019
RIE-NF+ZHA=+—H
Other payables and accruals 2,088 - - 2,088
HMENRIBERESER
Lease liabilities 2,333 877 - 3,210
HEaRE
4,421 877 - 5,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3. MBAEAKREE (&

3.2 Capital management 3.2 BEXEIR
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital KEREEEANFEBERARF
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern EAERFESENE I B
in order to provide maximize returns for shareholders EO SRS R EREI IR 2 H A
and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group’s capital MEBEBHRMF - AEBZERG
structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the BHARDESETHERIRE
directors of the Company. Adjustments are made to B-BERNEELEEB LK
the capital structure in light of changes in economic MRS HE R EEFR AR
conditions affecting the Group.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the AERFARABRERNREE AEE
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, AEZHEBERVTERENRES
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain B-ARERREES ZETHR
new borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt. M REHEERHEEELUR
DEF o
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing KEEMNBAEABRIERERHE
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total B AR o b EE R R FEFE PR LA
capital. Net debt comprise total interest-bearing liabilities BEAGHE FEHERESTEAR
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated HWERREAREEEBY - BE
as equity attributable to the owners of the Company as KRB HEE ANEGHED (W0
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position EEMBERRERFMT) NFER
plus net debt. The Group is not subject to externally Met & o AEE B BESTINL
imposed capital requirements. T EARRE ©
As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, the gearing ratios RIE—NWERZZEIZEF+Z
were as follows: B=1t—HB > BEXBELENT:
2020 2019
—E-THE “E-nEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F&T TAETT
Lease liabilities HEa® 14 2,375 3,151
Less: cash and cash equivalents J& : IRE KIS EHEY) 20 (28,964) (28,724)
Net debt FETS - -
Total equity AR 47,568 74,115
Total capital B 47,568 74,115
Gearing ratio BERAELE N/A FEB N/A 38 B
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value mainly include trade
and other receivables, loan receivable, cash and cash
equivalents, other payables and accruals and lease
liabilities. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying
value of these financial instruments approximates its fair
value.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial instruments are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as
well as the level of the fair value measurement hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorized
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 2:

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3 (unobservable

inputs).

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E-Z"ZF+"A=+—HIFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MHBEKREE (&
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 QFEfME &

Fair value as at

31 December Fair Valuation
B+ZB=+—HKNAFE value technique(s)
2020 2019 hierarchy and key input(s)
—E2%F “T-NF QTEER GERNRARBARE
Notes HK’$000 HK’$000
Myt FET FAET
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEHARZNERNEE
- Unlisted equity securities 16 5,500 17,286 Level 3 Income approach and
market approach
—JFLmEAES B=H Wi % R hiEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table summarizes the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in level 3 fair value measurements as at 31

December 2019 and 2020:

RERRER &)

3.3 XFEMEE &
TERBANR _E—NER_ZEZ
ZE+_A=+—HBEF=ZHA
FEFEFRPFEANBEREARRT
HRGABBENEEER !

2020
—EEH
Significant Range of inputs Sensitivity of
Fair Valuation  unobservable (probability-weighted fair value
Description value technique input average) to the input
EXTAHE BAYEHE ATEBEBAYERN
it ATE HERT BARE (BEEMEF9E  BRE
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted equity securities A 1,000  Income Discount rate 19.3% to 23.6% Approximately HK$0.4
approach (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$1.7 million
JFERRAESFA 1,000 Wz RRE 19.3%%£23.6% NOABRBABTE
GEEan NG MITEERET
BAHIE+/-10%)

Discount for 19.8% t0 24.2% Approximately HK$0.95
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HK$1.02 million

BRZmERENE 19.8%%£24.2% £0.95BBATE
i GEEan s N1.02BEET

BABIE/-10%)
Free cash flow  -10% to 10% Approximately HK$0.85
million to approximately
HKS$1.1 million
BRRER -10%ZE10% #M0.85BBETE
MABBAT
Unlisted equity securities B 4,500  Market Price to book ~ 0.93to 1.13 Approximately HK$4.0
approach ratio (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) ~ HK$4.9 million
JF EHRAESB 4500 TE%E miRE 0.93%1.13 HAOEEABTE
(FEH R PTERA D HNI9BBAT
BABE/-10%)

Discount for 26.1% to 31.9% Approximately HK$4.3
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HK$4.6 million

RZHERBNE 26.1%%31.9% MAIBBETE
il (FEH R PTERA D H46BEEAT

BABIEL/-10%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MHBEKREE (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 QFEfME &
2019
“E-NEF
Significant Range of inputs Sensitivity of
Fair Valuation  unobservable (probability-weighted fair value
Description value technique input average) to the input
EXTAHRE BANERHE ATFEBBARERN
faat ATE HERT BARE (BEEMEF9E - BRE
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted equity securities A 10,500  Income Discount rate 19.84% to 24.25% Approximately HK$9.0
approach (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$12.4 million
JEERRAESFA 10,500 WaiE RRX 19.84%%24.25% X9.08BATE
(SR PR A HN124B8AT
BAHIE/-10%)

Discount for 21.60% to 26.40% Approximately HK$10.1
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HK$10.9 million

BZmERENE 21.60%%26.40% M0IBEBETE
i (FEH R PTERA D HN10.9BBAT

BAHIE+/-10%)
Unlisted equity securities B 6,786  Market Enterprise value 0.83 to 1.02 Approximately HK$6. 1
approach to sales (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) ~ HK$7.5 million
JF EHRAESB 6,786 MHE TEBEHHEE 0.83F1.02 KeIEEAETE
(SR PTEHEMD Nr5EEETT
BABIE/-10%)

Discount for 26.10% t0 31.90%  Approximately HK$6.5
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HKS$7.1 million

Bz mERANE 26.10%%31.90% M65BBETE
EiE (R PTFEMN NTABEET

A HIE+/-10%)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Reconciliation of movements in Level 3 financial
instruments measured at fair value is as follows:

MBREAKER (&

3.3

KFEMEE
BATEAENE=ZREMIE
B8 HWRWMT

Unlisted equity financial
assets at FVTPL

HATESAEZN

JEEHREEMEE
2020 2019
—E-TH —Z2—hHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M &% FET FHET
As at 1 January w—B—H 17,286 5,000
Purchases N = 15,420

Fair value losses charged in BEDNRNAFEREE

profit or loss (11,786) (3,134)
As at 31 December n+-—B=+—8H 16 5,500 17,286

There were no transfers between the different levels of
the fair value hierarchy for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2020.

In estimating the fair value of the unlisted equity
securities, the Group engaged an independent third-party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management
works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model based on market conditions existing at the
end of each reporting period. The management reports
the management’s findings to the board of directors of
the Company to explain the cause of fluctuations in the
fair value of the unlisted equity securities.

REE-F-—NER-F_FF
+-ASt+—BLEE TR
RIBATEERZ AR -

PRAEEHIF EMRAESFHATE
B AEEZBBIS=HEE
BAEMETHE - BEEEHEN
BoERGEMBEYSE BN
RERSHREANTRETEY
ZEAGENGEERMTARBAR
B-EEERAAADEFTTER
EEENHEEER MREFLD
REFEFAFEKERRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgment,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, other key sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

Estimation of recoverability of trade and other
receivables and loan receivable

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for trade and other receivable and loan receivable
based on the credit risk of trade and other receivables and
loan receivable. The loss allowance amount is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit losses. The assessment
of the credit risk of trade and other receivables and loan
receivable involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty
as the directors of the Company estimates the loss rates for
debtors by using past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking information. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected, a
material impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment
loss may arise accordingly. For details of impairment
assessment are set out in Notes 18 and 19.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Valuation of investments classified as level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy

The Group holds financial instruments that are not traded or
quoted in active markets. The Group uses its judgment to
select the appropriate methods and make assumptions based
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period to estimate the fair value of such financial instruments
classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation
techniques include the market approach using prices and other
relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities such as net assets
values as provided by an independent third-party qualified
valuers or the discounted last transacted price; and discounted
cash flow approach which utilizes inputs such as projected
discounted cash flows and discount rate. Although the best
estimate is used in estimating fair values, there are inherent
limitations in any valuation technique. Estimated fair values may
differ from the values that would have been used if a readily
available market existed. For details of the fair value estimation
are set out in Note 3.3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors of the Company,
who are the chief operating decision-makers that are used to
make strategic decision. The Group manages its business by
divisions, which are organized by business lines.

The segments are managed separately as each business offers
different products and requires different business strategies.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable and operating segments:

()  Trading of precious metal — Sales of precious metal and
interest income from Forward Arrangements (Note 2.21)
in Hong Kong.

(i)  Money lending services — Provision of money lending
services in Hong Kong.

(i)  Education management services — Provision of education
management services in PRC Mainland.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"HA=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities
The segment information provided to the directors of
the Company for the reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 are as follows:

5. SBEH @

(a) IWEH -BEREER
BAADEFRHNEBARE "
T-NERZTEZZTE+A
=t+—HLEFEZRARENHZ
DEEM ST

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-E-FTHE+-A=+—HLEE

Education
Trading of Money lending management
precious metal services services Total
BEEEES R ERRES HEEERE o
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FERT FERT
Reportable segment revenue (Note) & A EULA (FizE) 4,247 10 6,207 10,464
Reportable segment AR SR (§518) /A
(loss)/profit (5,541) (6,543) 615 (11,469)
Depreciation of property, ME- -BRRREINE
plant and equipment (401)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREREENE (1,838)
Employee costs BEMAE (15,729)
Fair value losses on HitneMEEZ ATEEBR
other financial assets (9,500)
Interest expenses FERH% (52)
Other unallocated corporate expenses  E ik DA% (6,963)
Loss before income tax expense  BRFRGIRAIZAIRS1E (45,952)
Income tax expense Fri3ims (785)
Loss for the year FEKE (46,737)
Reportable segment assets ARESHEE 15,663 81 17,409 33,153
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 18,487
Property, plant and equipment I ENEEYE T 178
Right-of-use assets FHEEEE 2,064
Other financial assets HtnemEE 1,000
Other unallocated corporate assets HEMAPBECEEE 779
Consolidated total assets FAEENE 55,661
Additions to specified BEFERBHEEEM
non-current assets - - 753 753
Reportable segment liabilities ARESDEE 316 88 587 991
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,115
Other unallocated corporate liabilities ~ EfikDE L2 EE 1,332
Consolidated total liabilities ReafeE 4,438

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9HEHE Z
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) DEEE - EERER #E

The segment information provided to the directors of
the Company for the reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 are as follows:

(continueq)

RAADEERENENHE
T-AER-E-BEL A
S+—BLFEZARSEH B
HHERBIIMT : (#)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HEZZ-NE+ZA=1+—BLEE

Education
Trading of Money lending management
precious metal services services Total
ELEES MER YEEBERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET
Reportable segment revenue (Note) IR A EBURA (Fi5E) 190,565 848 25,201 216,614
Reportable segment WREDH (B58) /&F
(loss)/profi (7,522) (2,512) 22,616 12,582
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BRERREINE
equipment (512)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE (1,519)
Employee costs BEMAE (16,572)
Fair value losses on HtemEEZ A TFESE
other financial assets (2,000)
Interest expenses FBRX (119)
Other unallocated corporate expenses  E Rk DB HERHS (12,267)
Loss before income tax expense BRETEREXZAIEE (20,403)
Income tax expense FrigmEx (5,901)
Loss for the year FEBR (26,304)
Reportable segment assets ARENHEE 23,437 5,850 28,692 57,979
Cash and cash equivalents BehE2EEY 21,467
Property, plant and equipment NE- -BRRXE 543
Right-of-use assets FREERE 1,923
Other financial assets HtheREE 10,500
Other unallocated corporate assets HEMAPBETEEE 717
Consolidated total assets RAEERE 93,129
Additions to specified BEFREEEEM
non-current assets 11,051 - - 11,051
Reportable segment liabilities RENHEE 1,031 266 5,708 7,005
Lease liabilities HEER 2,045
Other unallocated corporate liabilitles ~ EfhkHE & E 1,071
Consolidated total liabilities ReaBERE 10,121

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.

MIsE @ FEAAMEDEBRIWA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

Share of loss of an associate

AME—EBERTBR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. SHEHE B
Other segment information (b) HttaEER
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZT-FE+RA=+—HLEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
precious metal services services Total
BEERES it BEEERY it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET THET TET
Change in fair value of BRFELATEEE
commaodity inventories 53 - - 53
Depreciation of property, NE- -BRRREINE
plant and equipment (791) - (73) (864)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREETE (667) (162) - (829)
Fair value losses on HteRMEEZ A TESRE
other financial assets (2,286) - - (2,286)
Provision of loss allowance on SRR ERBRERE
loan receivable - (4,829) - (4,829)
Reversal of provision/(provision) of BEHR/ G BB R
loss allowance on trade and EEWTIE
other receivables BERE (13) (568) 218 (363)
Interest income FIBWA - 10 - 10
Interest expenses FEH% (15) @) - (19)
Share of profit of an associate DME—BEE A B ER 90 - - 90
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NE+_A=+—HLEE
Money Education
Trading of lending management
precious metal services services Total
ExEBES BER YEEERS Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Amortization of contract costs (Note) & #IR A5 () - - (587) (587)
Change in fair value of BoFEATEEY
commaodity inventories (1,590) - - (1,590)
Depreciation of property, ME BERXENE
plant and equipment (844) - - (844)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEETE (667) (162) - (829)
Fair value losses on other HitheMEEZ ATEBR
financial assets (1,134) - - (1,134)
Provision of loss allowance on HRENEREEERE
loan receivable - (2,684) - (2,684)
Provision of loss allowance on trade 312 & 7 R EMAEWFIE
and other receivables BEEE - (325) (389) (714)
Interest income FIEKA 4,858 848 - 5,706
Interest expenses FERZ (670) ©) - (679)

9
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Other segment information (continued)
Note:

Contract costs capitalized during the year ended 31 December 2019
related to the contract’s procurement services rendered by Mr. Hon.
This incremental cost of services rendered would not be incurred if the
contracts to which the services related to were not obtained by the
Group. Contract costs are recognized as contract cost assets as the
Group expects to recover these costs. Such capitalized costs then be
recognized as part of “other operating expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which revenue from the related contracts are recognized. The amount
of capitalized costs recognized in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$587,000.

Geographical information

The Company is an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong and the principal place of
the Group’s operations is Hong Kong. Accordingly, the
management determines that the Group is domiciled in
Hong Kong.

5.

SBWEH (E
(b) HfthBEER (=
GEE

(c)

BE_ZT-NEF+_A=+—HLEEE
FMEN G A AR T ERENSORE
RBAR - HAEBEKRESERBEBN
SR AT ERFRERBEEZIEER
KoHNAEEMBHRTKEIZEFRAE > &
RENREER D ENREEE - R%EE
BB A6 B A i SR AE B S A R A B ER
W R G R KM E W R S
BITEMEERI N - -REE-T
—NFE+ZA=+—BLEEFERTETE
SBBE AL A £ EEX 723587,0008 7T ©

i E R

AAB A—EREBFEMNIR
REZERAT MAEENTE
KEMMSER B BEER
EXREEUTERHEEM-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. SBENR @)
(c) Geographical information (continued) (c) HimEH &
The Group’s revenue from customers and information KEBEZMBUEEDKREEF
about its specified non-current assets, comprising HWAREBEBEREIFEREIEE
property, plant and equipment, interest in an associate BIEME - KREREE R —EH
and right-of-use assets, by geographical location are ENBZEGRERAEEENE
detailed below: BIEFIEWT !

Revenue from customers™

KEEEHBKA
2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-N%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAEIT
Australia B - 15,287
Hong Kong 58 4,257 66,324
Japan H 7 - 46,583
PRC Mainland R Py 3 6,207 25,242
Singapore o3 - 63,178
10,464 216,614

* Based on location of customers. * BRERMNAES D

Specified non-current assets

WHEIERENEE
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THBT
Hong Kong 58 12,222 13,976
PRC Mainland R[5 P 720 -
12,942 13,976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. ZEBEH (&)
(d) Disaggregation of revenue (d) YWARIKF

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-E-ZEE+-BA=+—-HLEE

Money Education

Trading of lending management
precious metal services services Total
BEEEER HEEE BEEEERH b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT

Primary geographical markets ~ T EHE T 15
Hong Kong B 4,247 10 - 4,257
PRC Mainland B Py 3t - - 6,207 6,207
4,247 10 6,207 10,464
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z—NE+-A=+—-HLEE

Money Education

Trading of lending management
precious metal services services Total
ExBEEZ B BEERB Mt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Primary geographical markets ~ T EME T 15

Australia B 15,287 - - 15,287
Hong Kong 55 65,476 848 - 66,324
Japan B 46,583 - - 46,583
PRC Mainland B Py 3t 41 - 25,201 25,242
Singapore N 63,178 - - 63,178
190,565 848 25,201 216,614
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9HEHE Z
(e) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (e) REBEEAHNBKRARIK
customers
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAEIT
By timing of revenue WA ST R S5 -
recognition:
Control transferred over time 8 B 18] 48 25 T 8 4% O 22 41 48 6,207 25,201
Control transferred at A {8 B ) Bh B2 78 A9 20 1)
a point in time 4,247 190,565
10,454 215,766
(f) Information about major customers ) BHRAETEERNER

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue and is reported
under the segment of trading of precious metal and
education management services, are set out below:

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

REZERERBRA10% U L
NEBERFRESTEEZ R
BEERDDEIE T 2|AIMA
HIU0F ¢

2020 2019

—ECEHE —ZT—hHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT TAETT

Customer A! BEA N/A B H 56,543

Customer B' ZEB! N/A B H 46,583

Customer C' ERC N/A FiEH 26,331

Customer D! =ZHAD! 4,247 N/A A 7E

Customer E? ZRE? 3,890 N/A 38

Customer F? EFAF? 1,877 N/A T

1 Revenue from trading of precious metal 1 REEEBEZSZWA

2 Revenue from education mangement services 2 KEHBEERBZWA

N/A:  Not applicable as the revenue generated by the customer is less

than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

TER: BERPEENBATERLREH
FTAZ WL A B910%B% R B A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hfthirz=
2020 2019
—EEHE “E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Lab-test service income B E AR RFE WA - 82
Interest income from rental deposit KBEMREZEF BUWA 16 15
Government grant ILgSE=¢:l] 739 -
Others Hh 177 183
932 280

During the current year, the Group recognized government

RAFEE > ZEETCovid-1918RIBI

grants of approximately HK$739,000 in respect of Covid-19- BERE SR BT B Bh49739,0008 75 0 H

related subsidies, of which approximately HK$739,000 relates
to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong

#3739,0008 TTHE B A BUNF R HAIFLE
XFErEER EAGERELSER

government. All grants are recognized when there is reasonable R EG B BB EEME &
assurance that the Group is complied with the conditions BRFABEE-
attaching and that the grants will be received.
7. EMPLOYEE COSTS 7. EEMZE
2020 2019
—E-EH —Z2—hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Employee costs (including directors’ 1B & a7
emoluments) comprise: (BREEZFNE) 615
Salaries and bonus, e R CAL R B K B F
allowances and benefits 21,174 23,804
Contributions to defined TERR TR RSB
contribution retirement plans 263 304
21,437 24,108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E-Z"ZF+"A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EHEM=
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESITHAEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIE A BRG] (BB EFIZE6225)
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the F383ME M AT RBEENGE
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure ) 1BH (FBEHE22GE) B
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation WEZEEZMEWT !
(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2020 8E=E—_T-_TF+=-HA=+—8
IEEFE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension settled
and benefits  Discretionary scheme  share-based
Fee in kind bonus  contributions payments Total
W& ERR BikE MURTEHZ
g BNEH RRETEA SRR RAEREARG it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TAR TET TET TET TERT TET
(Note (vi) (Note (vi) (Note (vi)
(Bt 3 (vi)) (figzE(vii)) (B 5 (vii))
Executive directors
BiTES
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,950 - 18 466 2,578
EXREE ()
Mr. Fung Chi Kin (Note (ii) 144 1,300 - - 466 1,910
BEBRE (7))
Total 288 3,250 - 18 932 4,488
th
Independent non-executive directors (“INED”)
BUkyiTEs ((BUFRTES)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu (Note (iv) 200 = = = 47 247
BXREFxE (izHw)
Ms. Wu Liyan (Note (iv) 200 - - - 47 247
SEF T ()
Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian (Note (iv)) 70 - - - - 70
BRI EE (k)
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San (Note (iv)) 200 - - - 47 247
BRRUL ()
Total 670 - - - 141 811

Eh]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

8.

=

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

8. EEM= @
(a) EFERERSTHASME (&)

RBEABHRG (FBEHI55622F)
$E383F AT MBEFHNTE
) BB (FBEHHE622GE)
REZEEMEWT | (&

(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:

(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE"_ZT—NEFE+-R=+—H

EFE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension settled
and benefits Discretionary scheme share-based
Fee in kind bonus contributions payments Total
e Bk BhEe  LUREHEEZ
ik BMET KBTIt SRR RIDERGH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEn FER FEL FEL
(Note (vi) (Note (vi)) (Note (vili)
(&) (MY EE(vi) (Bt 2 vii))
Executive directors
HiTES
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,950 - 18 610 2,722
EEAE (i3
Mr. Fung Chi Kin (Note (ii) 74 668 - - 610 1,352
BB (REH)
Mr. Felipe Tan (“Mr. Tan") (Note (ii)) 1,080 1,260 - 9 - 2,349
BZEEE (REE) (050)
Mr. Zhu Hongguang (Note (iii) 92 994 - - - 1,086
FAERE (3k(i)
Total 1,390 4872 - 27 1,220 7,509
a5t
Independent non-executive directors (‘INED”)
BuFanes (RUERTES))
Mr. Zhou Tianshu (Note (iv)) 200 - - - 61 261
BRERE (W)
Ms. Wu Liyan (Note (iv) 200 - - - 61 261
SEL ()
Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian (Note (iv)) 184 - - - 61 245
SRR (MEHW)
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San (Note (iv)) 168 - - - 61 229
BERMEL ()
Ms. Dai Meihong (Note (v)) 32 - - - - 32
IS (M3
Ms. Tsang Wai Chun Marianna (Note (v)) 100 - - - - 100
BEY LT (V)
Total 884 - - - 244 1,128
st
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Notes:

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

Mr. Wang Wendong was appointed as an executive director on
11 May 2018. He was appointed as chief executive officer of the
Company on 31 October 2018.

Mr. Fung Chi Kin was appointed as an executive director on 26
June 2019.

Mr. Tan and Mr. Zhu Hongguang were resigned as an executive
director on 20 July 2019 and 20 August 2019 respectively.

Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan, Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian and
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San were appointed as an INED on 29
September 2018, 29 September 2018, 30 January 2019 and 27
February 2019 respectively. Mr. Lau Yuen Sun Adrian was resigned
as an INED on 6 May 2020.

Ms. Dai Meihong, Ms. Tsang Wai Chun Marianna and Dr. Wang Lin
were resigned as an INED on 27 February 2019, 28 June 2019 and
29 September 2018 respectively.

Fees included director’s fee received from subsidiaries of the
Company.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors of the Company are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those persons’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries undertakings.

Details of the equity-settled share-based payments regarding to the
share options granted to directors, eligible employees and other
eligible participants are set out in Note 23.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

8. EFEM= =

(a)
GER

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

EFRERITTHASME (@)

EXRAER _B—-—N\FEA+—
HEZEAPTES - RN _F
—NE+B=+—HEZEREA
BITEUABE

BEBEER_Z—HAERA
“HRHEZERRITES-

BRAERKRANEEDRIR ZF
—NEFEtB-TARZZE-—AEN
BZ+HBENTES-

BXREFLE - RBIHLZ LT 2R
RERBZEMLZLEDRNR 22—\
ERAZ+HAB-ZE—N\EIA
—_thBE-ZE—hh&E—B=+H
MRZE-—NFZBEZ+tHEZRE
BENERTES - RREMEER
CECEERANEREBIIIER
TES-

BIBAL4 T EEB LT REHE
THRAMRZE-—AFEZAZ+t
H-ZZ2—AFAAAZ+/N\BKZ
E—NFABZ+HBBHEIEIIE
HITES

BEAEEWRAABDMBERATNNE
ElE-

MARBRTEEINZHEE
MREYMEMND—RBMZEAL
EEARBZEHFRANBADZ
EHFrRM BEMRB M AT
W 2z #h B

EHmEF cEREERHME
BER2EERHNBREMRAES
HZROBRGAOFBERNWE
230
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no
emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office (2019: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the
directors of the Company have waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or will
receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits
during the year (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2020, there is no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2019: Nil).

8.

EFME =

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EFERERITHASME (&

HEZZ-ZHF+ZHA=1+—H
FEE AEEBEDNESI A
LESFNA LTI EMNE
EAMAETER LN MARER
BREE NEAERBEE (CF
—hEHE) o

BHEZZZZF+ZHA=1+—H
LtEE BEARAEENERN
EREZRERETAME (Z
E—NEFE 8| o

EFREAREF RLELLEF

REABMBEALTDEFTWERRK
ik R AT ) 2B R A8 ) S A8 LE 4B A
CE-NF 8-

MESEERFRF=FREN
&
BE_Z_THFETA=1T—H
LFE ARBLEMRERSES
RFRAEAE=ZFZMAE (=
T—NEFIHE)-

FRAMES -RREFEFENN
ZEABBERZEFESNMERR
RENER EERRAMEZS
HER
ATETEE+R=+—8"
TEAEF - ZRFEFEHFN
EANERRZSEENHEER
REEM  EFEMKMHEMRZZ L5
CE-—hE 8] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(e) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, 2 (2019: four) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments of the remaining individuals were

8.

EXEME @

() HBARBHMAL
FEBLLRSFMALHERE
2% (ZE—NEF W) xAFH
B (REOMEEFENEXER
Sz i) c HER A TR0

as follows: T
2020 2019
—EEHE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Salaries and bonus, b LT A= = ]
allowances and benefits 4,067 1,075
Contributions to defined R FGR ARG EME R
contribution retirement plan 36 18
4,103 1,093

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEZMEN TUTHE :

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NEF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A A
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 Bt E
HK$1,500,000 1,500,00078 75 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to 1,500,001 TE
HK$2,000,000 2,000,000/ 75 1 -
3 1

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HMBAZL
2020 2019
—EEHE —E—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FAET
Interest on bank loans and RITERRAEMEE .
other borrowing ME - 30
Interest on lease liabilities HEasnHE 14 71 113
Interest on loan from related FENBRBEZERFE
companies - 651
71 794
10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRERISMBAZAIASIE
Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after charging/ BREFSMEZ A BB &N (5
(crediting): A) UTFRIBEDR .
2020 2019
—BCEHg —E—hEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHET
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 24 BT 77 B 600 600
Donation B - 500
Exchange gains — net P& 2 W s ) F BB (343) (98)
Lease payments not included in  WHEt ATREESE2H
the measurement of lease HE ()
liabilities (Note) 14 1,204 390

Note: Included in the balances was office rental paid under the tenancy
agreement entered into by the Group with a related company amounting
to approximately HK$390,000 in 2019. No such amount was paid in

2020.

FMIEE -

EZZ-NE REFRTEENR
ERBREFERRA-BEEAR]
YHBEEREZTORAZEEESY
390,000t —E_EFRAL(
BRI
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[7177 O = |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11. FRiSMBEX

2020 2019
—E_EHE —E—-hHF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 51 FET FAET
Current tax: BIHATRIE :
Charge for the year FELZH (642) (5,901)
Deterred tax: PIEFRIA
Change for the year FEZH 22 (143) -
Income tax expense FRiSiiB (785) (5,901)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
16.5%).

Under the law of the PRC Mainland on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Laws”) and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Laws,
the tax rate of the PRC Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 25%).

BIRIERBRAR | Z2ZFFRK

rEREREREEENAERRER
BEMREEMENRZEERESE
BB B s M AR P AS AR

RERBEXHE (HBEERESE))
RARRE » AEBEAGMNERRE
BREEFEHR -

REZE_Z_THE+-_A=+—HL
FE > BBRERDRE BRG]
B16.5% (ZE—NF 1 16.5%) KR K
FIGE

RIEPBEAM P EFRESRE (TRERR
BWRE) R EFRBREASHESG
RBEE_ZF_THE+_A=+—HL
FEE FEAMMBATNREA25%
(ZE—HF 1 25%) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FRiGHHAX (&
The income tax expense can be reconciled to the loss before FriEMASTEGEEEa REME2EW
income tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or mk ZPRPTSMRESZ AT BEHRNOT !

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET THET
Loss before income tax expense  BRFTE B Al 18 45,952 20,403
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate 2 #1733 K 16.5%5T &
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) ZME (CE—NF:
16.5%) 7,582 3,366
Effect of different tax rate of REAMBAREE & E 2 MY
subsidiaries operating in BABSFERAEREL
other jurisdictions T 35 (1,964)
Tax effect of income not taxable  HBERRWAZRFEFE
for tax purposes 167 64
Tax effect of expenses not THMNREASZZNBEEE
deductible for tax purposes (6,033) (4,861)
Tax effect of tax losses not FEDBRIBERZ
recognized ME 2 (1,604) (2,344)
Tax effect of other temporary REBEMERER
differences not recognized METZ (168) (162)
Withhold tax paid on dividend 32 (3 R E P 3 B A
distributed by PRC Mainland 7k B RITEINR
subsidiary (621) -
Accrual of withholding IR EaEstE 22
tax liabilities (143) -
Income tax expense FAMRERAE
for the year (785) (5,901)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZF+"_F=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$34,891,000 (2019: approximately
HK$25,243,000) which are available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of the estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Tax losses amounted to approximately
HK$34,485,000 (2019: approximately HK$24,882,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely which are subject to approval from
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department and approximately
RMB341,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$406,000) (2019:
RMB323,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$361,000)) will
expire in five years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC Mainland, withholding tax at
10% is imposed on dividends declared to its immediate holding
company outside of PRC Mainland in respect of the profits
earned by the PRC Mainland subsidiary from 1 January 2008
and onwards. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied
when the immediate holding company is established in Hong
Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2019,
deferred taxation has not been provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to the profits earned by the PRC Mainland
subsidiary amounting to approximately RMB15,567,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,396,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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11.

FriSHREX (&

A CETEF+_HA=+—H K&EH
BAFTREARIBEEL34,891,000
Bt (ZZE—NF 425,243,000
7o) o Al RIS R EF o AN A TE
FFREFZR S E IR IBE IR
MERIRIE I IEE & © 2 #4934,485,000
BT (ZZ—N4E © £924,882,00058 7T)
ZRIEBEEEHEE (BRESEE
MBI E) > MAI AR 341,000
7T (FBHE R 49406,00087T) (ZE—H
F I ARM323,0007T (BBERK
361,000/ 7)) B EENEIHF-

RFFEAMPERERL BT
NE—B—HE> FE KM B A G
P H B EN Y& A e H S R E A i 3R Ah
HNEEERABDERMNKREEZ10%
B ZE M TEIN R o 1R 3% A [ P9 3 £2
EEZENRBBERZH EEEE
SATRBEBRILE  TUER®RE
FI5%TEMNME - R _ZE—HE+_A
T+ —H UERGEHFEREM PR
7 3t B BB A B B B AR A FE (G B R
ZHH ANRME15,567,00070 (FHE 4
17,396,00078 7T) sTiRIRIE R IE#E >
RAKAEBEESITEG BOERFEZEN
BEE BEREREAELSE N Bk
2 EI
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e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. SkREBGE
2020 2019
k- et 3 3 “E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss E5i8
Loss attributable to owners of KNBER ABHER
the Company (46,856) (34,002)
2020 2019
—T-FF —E—NEF
Number of shares it A0E 4=
Weighted average number of AUt EEREREEY
ordinary shares for the purpose of ZERMEFEEEE (FR)
calculating basic loss per share
(in thousand) 587,481 561,704

Diluted loss per share for loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
was the same as basic loss per share because the impact of
the exercise of share options is anti-dilutive.

The details of the share option are set out in Note 24.

HE-S—NER-B-_EF+8
S+—BLEE AADREAZ SR
BEFIEREREAFIE—R AR
A AR 2 B 2 R M A o

BB tET IR aE24 0
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E-Z"ZF+"A=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ME -BERRE

Equipment
and computer Leasehold Furniture Motor
software improvements  and fixture vehicle Total
HER e
A MERE GREEE pa: @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FTET TET FET
Cost 7%
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—-NF—F—H 3,583 1,456 245 772 6,056
Additions 10 25 121 3,012 - 3,158
Disposals HE (429) - (74) - (503)
As at 31 December 2019 and RIE-AE+ZA=+—HBX
1 January 2020 i 3,179 1,577 3,183 772 8,711
Additions 12m 135 8 646 - 789
Exchange alignment ERAHE 6 - 38 - 44
As at 31 December 2020 R-E2-££+-A=+-H 3,320 1,585 3,867 772 9,544
Accumulated depreciation RHRE
As at 1 January 2019 A _E-hE—F—H 3,271 992 118 434 4,815
Charge for the year FEZH 229 221 713 193 1,356
Written back on disposal H & R[] (396) - (49) - (445)
As at 31 December 2019 and RIB—-hE+-B=1+—-HK
1 January 2020 “ETEF—-F—H 3,104 1,213 782 627 5,726
Charge for the year FEYH 47 247 826 145 1,265
Exchange alignment ERAE - - 4 - 4
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z2-E£+-RA=+-H 3,151 1,460 1,612 772 6,995
Net carrying value REFE
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZEE+ZR=+-H 169 125 2,255 - 2,549
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-h&E+-A=1+—H 75 364 2,401 145 2,985
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HEZZ-ZTF+_F=+—HIEFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEA